TELOMERE LENGTH, UNCOMMON GENETIC VARIATION, AND DEPRESSION

APPROVED BY SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

E. Sherwood Brown, M.D., Ph.D. Jonathan Cohen, Ph.D. Haekyung Jeon-Slaughter, Ph.D.

H. M. Evans, Ph.D.

Martin Deschner, Ph.D.

For

Elena Noelle Wignall

TELOMERE LENGTH, UNCOMMON GENETIC VARIATION, AND DEPRESSION

By

NICHOLAS DAVID WIGNALL

DISSERTATION

Presented to the Faculty of the Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences

The University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

For the Degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

The University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center

Dallas, Texas

August, 2015

Copyright

by

NICHOLAS DAVID WIGNALL, 2015

All Rights Reserved

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank and acknowledge the following people for their support and guidance: My dissertation chair, Dr. Sherwood Brown, for his kind and helpful support throughout the dissertation process; my dissertation committee—Drs. Jonathan Cohen, Haekyung Jeon-Slaughter, Monty Evans, and Martin Deschner—for their expertise and encouragement; Dr. Julia Kozlitina for her helpful consultations; Dr. Beth Kennard, Dr. Richard Robinson, and Adrianna Harris for their administrative support; Andrea, Cassidy, Daniel, Dave, Heather, Rich, Rush, Sarah, and Seema—classmates, teammates, and friends; my teachers—Brent McAdam, Linda Williamson, Gordon Anderson, Drs. Gerry Wegemer, Greg Roper, Scott Crider, Debra Baldwin, Kevin Majeres, Ted Asay, and Harriet de Wit—for instilling in me a deep curiosity for the world and the people who live in it; my grandfather, Jacob Arcanin, a model of thoughtfulness and compassion; my siblings—Alex, Katharine, Jonny, Aidan, and Seb—for putting up with me and making me incredibly proud; my dad and the best man I know, David Wignall, for teaching me how to work; and my mom, Katie Wignall, for teaching me how to love; Finally, I would like to thank Catarina Wignall, my wife, my partner, and my best friend.

ABSTRACT

TELOMERE LENGTH, UNCOMMON GENETIC VARIATION, AND DEPRESSION

NICHOLAS DAVID WIGNALL, Ph.D.

The University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, 2015

E. SHERWOOD BROWN, M.D., Ph.D.

Previous research attempting to better understand the genetic basis of depression has demonstrated few clear findings. The present study employed a cross-sectional design to analyze the association between leukocyte telomere length and depression in 2,710 participants from the Dallas Heart Study (DHS), as well as the potentially moderating influence of ethnicity/race, APOE allele variation, and average self-reported hours of sleep per night. Furthermore, in an exploratory exome-wide association study, we analyzed associations between a subset of 2.949 participants from the DHS with depression data available and 247,870 genetic variants. Scores from the primary measure of depression—The Quick Inventory of Depressive Symptomatology (QIDS)—showed a significant negative association with telomere length but only in the Caucasian subset of the sample. Scores from the secondary measure of depression—The DHS's "felt depressed" question—showed a significant negative association with telomere length across the whole sample, as well as in the African American subset, but not within the Caucasian or Hispanic subsets. Neither APOE allele variation nor average nightly sleep was a significant moderator of the association between depression and telomere length. No significant associations between depressions scores and specific genetic variants were found in the exome-wide

association study. These finding help clarify the relationship between depression and telomere length by highlighting the importance of ethnicity/race in the relationship between depression and telomere length. Future research involving depression and telomere length should account for ethnicity/race in their analyses, while future exome-wide association studies of depression should seek more severe and well-defined cases of depression.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER I – Introduction		
CHAPTER II – Background and Literature Review		
I.	What is Depression?	3
II.	What are Telomeres?	5
III.	Telomere Structure and Function	6
IV.	Telomere Length and Disease	9
V.	Telomere Length and Psychiatric Illness	11
VI.	Telomere Length and Environmental Factors	16
VII.	Telomere Length and the APOE Genotype	20
VIII.	Genetic Variants and Depression	21
CHAPTER III – Methods		
I.	Aims and Hypotheses	25
II.	Study Sample Overview	26
III.	Telomere Length	27
IV.	Depression	28
V.	APOE	31
VI.	Sleep	31
VII.	Exome-Wide Association Study	31
VIII.	Statistical Analyses for Aims and Hypotheses	32
CHAPTER IV – Results		
I. De	escriptive Statistics	36

	II.	Results for Aims and Hypotheses	37
CHAPTER V – Discussion			
	I.	Depression-Telomere Length Association Analysis	43
	II.	Depression-Telomere Length Association Analysis by Ethnicity/Race	47
	III.	Effect of APOE Genotype Variation on Depression-Telomere Length	
		Association Analysis	49
	IV.	Effect of Sleep on Depression-Telomere Length Association Analysis	51
	V.	Study Design Analysis	53
	VI.	Exome-Wide Association Study Analysis	55
	VII.	Strengths	58
	VIII.	Limits and Future Directions	59
	IX.	Clinical Implications	60
	X.	Conclusion	61
CH	CHAPTER VI – Tables		63
CE	CHAPTER VII – References		

PRIOR PUBLICATIONS

Wignall, N. D., & Brown, E. S. (2014). Citicoline in addictive disorders: a review of the literature. *Am J Drug Alcohol Abuse, 40*(4), 262-268. doi: 10.3109/00952990.2014.925467

Wignall, N. D., & de Wit, H. (2011). Effects of nicotine on attention and inhibitory control in healthy nonsmokers. *Exp Clin Psychopharmacol*, 19(3), 183-191. doi: 10.1037/a0023292

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Prior Depression-Telomere Length Research, Case-control Designs	64
Table 2: Prior Depression-Telomere Length Research, Cross-sectional Designs	65
Table 3: Descriptive Statistics of the Whole Sample	66
Table 4: Descriptive Statistics: African Americans	67
Table 5: Descriptive Statistics: Caucasians	68
Table 6: Descriptive Statistics: Hispanics	69
Table 7: QIDS-Telomere Length Regression Analysis, Whole Sample, Basic Model	70
Table 8: QIDS-Telomere Length Regression Analysis, Whole Sample, Fully Adjusted Model	71
Table 9: Felt Depressed-Telomere Length Regression Analysis, Whole Sample, Basic Model	72
Table 10: Felt Depressed-Telomere Length Regression Analysis, Whole Sample, Fully Adjusted Model	73
Table 11: QIDS-Telomere Length Regression Analysis, African Americans, Basic Model	74
Table 12: QIDS-Telomere Length Regression Analysis, African Americans, Fully Adjusted Model	75
Table 13: Felt Depressed-Telomere Length Regression Analysis, African Americans, Basic Model	76
Table 14: Felt Depressed-Telomere Length Regression Analysis, African Americans, Fully Adjusted Model	77
Table 15: QIDS-Telomere Length Regression Analysis, Caucasians, Basic Model	78
Table 16: QIDS-Telomere Length Regression Analysis, Caucasians, Fully Adjusted Model	79

Table 17:	Felt Depressed-Telomere Length Regression Analysis, Caucasians, Basic Model	80
Table 18:	Felt Depressed-Telomere Length Regression Analysis, Caucasians, Fully Adjusted Model	81
Table 19:	QIDS-Telomere Length Regression Analysis, Hispanics, Basic Model	82
Table 20:	QIDS-Telomere Length Regression Analysis, Hispanics, Fully Adjusted Model	83
Table 21:	Felt Depressed-Telomere Length Regression Analysis, Hispanics, Basic Model	84
Table 22:	Felt Depressed-Telomere Length Regression Analysis, Hispanics, Fully Adjusted Model	85
Table 23:	QIDS-Telomere Length-Sleep Regression: Whole Sample	86
Table 24:	Felt Depressed-Telomere Length-Sleep Regression: Whole Sample	87
Table 25:	QIDS-Telomere Length-APOE(2) Regression: Whole Sample	88
Table 26:	Felt Depressed-Telomere Length-APOE(2) Regression: Whole Sample	89
Table 27:	QIDS-Telomere Length-APOE(3) Regression: Whole Sample	90
Table 28:	Felt Depressed-Telomere Length-APOE(3) Regression: Whole Sample	91
Table 29:	QIDS-Telomere Length-APOE(4) Regression: Whole Sample	92
Table 30:	Felt Depressed-Telomere Length-APOE(4) Regression: Whole Sample	93

CHAPTER I

Introduction

Depression is a complex condition that contributes to significant health and economic burdens worldwide (Mathers & Loncar, 2006). While mental health clinicians and researchers have made important progress in the identification and treatment of depression in recent decades, it is still poorly understood and difficult to treat (Belmaker & Agam, 2008). Recent approaches to the identification and treatment of depression have focused on better understanding the biological basis of depression (Duman, 2014; Han & Yu, 2014; Nemeroff, 2002).

One recent line of inquiry has investigated the effect of depression on telomere length. Although telomere shortening or erosion is a natural consequence of normal cell division, depression may increase the rate of telomere erosion (Simon et al., 2006). However, the research literature on the relationship between depression and telomere length is relatively small and largely equivocal in its findings (see Tables 1 and 2 for a summary). The primary purpose of the present investigation was to help clarify this literature by examining the relationship between depression and leukocyte telomere length in a large sample and to attempt to account for several potentially moderating variables, especially ethnic/racial differences.

A second aim of this investigation was to examine more broadly the genetic basis of depression. While previous candidate gene and genome-wide association studies of depression have been largely inconclusive (Flint & Kendler, 2014), a new method of genetic analysis, exome-wide association study, was available and has not previously been used to examine genetic variations associated with depression. This newer method of analysis may provide

greater clarity on the relationship between genetic variance and the emergence of depressive symptoms as it examines uncommon sources of genetic variation, which previous methodologies have been unable to investigate.

CHAPTER II

Background and Literature Review

I. What is Depression?

While the term *depression* is commonly used to describe a range of symptoms and phenotypes all related to low mood, the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders 5th Edition (DSM-5) (*Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*, 2013) demarcates several distinct depressive disorders (e.g. major depressive disorder, persistent depressive disorder/dysthymia, as well as several bipolar disorders which include depressive episodes), each of which include a similar set of symptoms, but may vary according to frequency, intensity, or other co-occurring factors (First, 2013).

Major depressive disorder is the prototypical depressive disorder and is characterized by a two-week period of persistently depressed mood and/or markedly diminished interest or pleasure in previously enjoyed activities. Additional symptoms include significant changes in appetite or weight, poor sleep quality, psychomotor retardation or agitation, fatigue, feelings of worthlessness or guilt, difficulty thinking or concentrating, and suicidal thinking (*Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*, 2013).

While major depressive disorder is typically diagnosed after a thorough clinical interview, many self-report or clinician-administered assessment measures exist to provide a more convenient means of determining the presence of depressive symptoms (Bentley, Pagalilauan, & Simpson, 2014). Along with the recent rise in interest of conceptualizing psychiatric conditions along dimensional rather than categorical lines, symptom-based measures of depression have received renewed interest, especially as a way to determine sub-clinical or non-pathological levels of depression in persons who might simply have been labeled as not having met criteria according to a traditional clinical interview (Widiger & Samuel, 2005).

In the last several decades, depression appears to have grown rapidly into societal and cultural consciousness. The health professions have also improved considerably in their ability to recognize, diagnose and treat depressive disorders in recent years, yet depression remains a significant problem (Millan, Goodwin, Meyer-Lindenberg, & Ove Ogren, 2015). Epidemiological research suggests that the lifetime prevalence of major depression is generally between 8 and 12% worldwide; however the range is wide, with the lowest prevalence found in Japan (3%) and the highest in the United States (17%) (Andrade et al., 2003; Kessler et al., 2003). Furthermore, depression has consistently been found at double the rate in women compared to men (Kuehner, 2003; Seedat et al., 2009), is more common in conjunction with or after serious medical conditions such as stroke, Parkinson's disease, and cardiovascular disease (Alboni, Favaron, Paparella, Sciammarella, & Pedaci, 2008; Rickards, 2005), and appears to have differential effects by race/ethnicity (Riolo, Nguyen, Greden, & King, 2005).

In recent years, both clinicians and researchers have increasingly turned toward a more biological perspective on depression (Fakhoury, 2015; Maletic & Raison, 2014). The search for so-called "biomarkers" of depression has been especially emphasized, with the hope that if a biological signature for depression were available, clinicians would be better able to confidently identify its presence or absence and to treat it effectively (Jani et al., 2015; Woods, Iosifescu, & Darie, 2014). One potential biomarker for depression is telomere length.

II. What are Telomeres?

The term telomere—derived from the Greek words *telos* meaning end and *meros* meaning part refers to the genetic material at the ends of chromosomes. The term was coined relatively independently in the 1930s by Herman J. Muller, Cyril D. Darlington, and J. B. S. Haldane (Muller, 1938) who noted that the ends of chromosomes are different than ends of other genetic material resulting from breakage since, unlike broken strands, they will not fuse with other ends. After these initial observations, Muller and Barbara McClintock were the first to describe the role telomeres play in maintaining chromosomal stability (McClintock, 1939).

Leonard Hayflick made the important discovery that cell populations have only a limited capacity for replication. Known as Hayflick's Limit or replicative senescence, this limit refers to the number of times a typical human cell population divides until individual cell division ceases (Hayflick, 1965). In the late 1960s Alexey M. Olovnikov, a Soviet graduate student, inspired by both Muller and McClintock as well as Hayflick's work, theorized that telomeres—and telomere shortening specifically—might be the mechanism responsible for Hayflick's limit (Olovnikov, 1973).

The next major milestone in the timeline of telomere study came in the late 1970s when Elizabeth Blackburn uncovered the basic structure of telomeres as small repeated sequences of DNA (Blackburn & Gall, 1978). She later went on with Jack Szostak to demonstrate how telomeres are conserved evolutionarily and contribute to the chromosome's stability over time (Szostak & Blackburn, 1982) and with her graduate student Carol Greider first described the enzyme telomerase which lengthens telomeres (Greider & Blackburn, 1985). As a result of these early discoveries into the nature of telomeres, the last twenty years have seen an enormous amount of interest in telomere biology.

An early analogue for telomere function was the concept of the mitotic clock. Research in the early 1990s bore out Olovnikov's early theorizing and demonstrated that telomeres actually shorted predictably with cellular division and replication. Furthermore, when samples were taken from older people and compared to those of younger people, the telomeres of the older people were found to be significantly and predictably shorter, leading to the concept of telomeres as a marker or proxy for biological—as opposed to chronological—age (Harley, Futcher, & Greider, 1990). Most recently, the study of telomere structure and function has been applied to specific disease states and phenotypes in the hopes of elucidating the mechanisms behind various forms of premature aging and mortality.

III. Telomere Structure and Function

Telomeres are repetitive nucleotide sequences located at the ends of chromosomes in most eukaryotic organisms (i.e. those whose cells contain a nucleus). For vertebrates, including humans, the specific sequence of the nucleotides is TTAGGG. Although telomere length varies considerably between species, in humans the length is typically between 0.5 and 15 kilo base pairs (bp). At the far end of the telomere is a single-strand portion called the telomere loop or T-Loop, which is maintained by several proteins known as the Shelterin Complex. This loop is approximately 300 bp long and serves to stabilize the telomere by preventing the telomere ends from being identified as break points, an event which would typically trigger cellular senescence, apoptosis, or several other events which might compromise the integrity of the genetic information (Bailey & Murnane, 2006; d'Adda di Fagagna et al., 2003). In addition to its protective function, telomere shortening also functions as a tumor suppressing mechanism, since it limits the proliferative potential of cells (Shay & Wright, 2005).

Additionally, telomeres have a particular attribute which makes them essential to the larger process of DNA replication. During cellular division, DNA polymerase is not able to completely replicate the 3' end of the strand so the telomere shortens by approximately 30 to 200 base pairs. This phenomenon is known as the end replication problem (Aubert & Lansdorp, 2008). As a result, telomere length gradually declines over time (approximately 20 to 40 base pairs each year in human leukocyte telomeres) until the telomere is critically short. Once this point has been reached, the T-Loop can no longer hold the structure of the telomere together and cellular senescence or apoptosis is induced (Zakian, 2012).

Interestingly, the end-replication problem is thought to only contribute to a small percentage of the overall loss in telomere length (Levy, Allsopp, Futcher, Greider, & Harley, 1992), suggesting that other factors may play a role in the degradation of telomere length (von Zglinicki, 2000, 2002). Telomere degradation is known to be associated with T-cell proliferation initiated by pro-inflammatory cytokines (Carrero et al., 2008). These same pro-inflammatory cytokines have also been implicated in the inhibition of cellular apoptosis, which prevents the most damaged cells from being removed from the population, as well as leading to a higher percentage of cells with short telomere lengths (Mangan & Wahl, 1991). Finally, increased inflammation may also trigger an increase in cortisol and related hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis factors (Silverman & Sternberg, 2012), which are thought to influence telomere length by decreasing the transcription of the telomerase catalytic element (J. Choi, Fauce, & Effros, 2008).

In addition to inflammation, oxidative stress may be associated with an increased rate of telomere length attrition. Oxidative stress is the term used to define an imbalance in a biological system between reactive oxygen species (reactive molecules that contain oxygen) and the

system's ability to remove the reactive components or repair the damage they cause (Devasagayam et al., 2004). A sustained level of oxidative stress can result in structural cellular damage as well as functional disruptions in the typical cellular signaling mechanisms (Valko et al., 2007). In addition to increasing the rate of telomere attrition, oxidative stress has been implicated in a host of disease states ranging from cancer (Halliwell, 2007) and heart attacks (Ramond et al., 2013) to autism (James et al., 2004) and chronic fatigue syndrome (Kennedy et al., 2005).

While various factors have been identified that appear to contribute causally to an increased rate of telomere length attrition, some evidence also suggests that the causality is unclear given shortened telomeres also contribute to inflammatory, HPA axis, and autonomic dysregulations (Verhoeven, Revesz, Wolkowitz, & Penninx, 2014). For example, one study showed that monocytes with shorter telomere lengths demonstrated an increase in inflammatory activity compared to those cells with longer telomere lengths (Merino et al., 2011). Others have suggested that shorter telomeres might contribute to impaired mitochondrial functioning, followed by a decrease in fatty acid oxidation and glucose utilization resulting in an increased vulnerability to the effects of oxidative stress (Fyhrquist, Saijonmaa, & Strandberg, 2013; Satoh et al., 2008). More recent work in this area by Sahin et al has shown that telomere dysfunction activates the p53 tumor suppressor protein, which in turn suppresses mitochondrial functioning via suppression of PGC-1a abd PGC-1b promoters (Sahin et al., 2011). In sum, it appears as though decreased telomere length and dysregulation within several stress systems throughout the body interact with each other such that they set the stage for impairments in healthy functioning across a range of domains (Verhoeven et al., 2014).

While telomeres tend to degrade and shorten over time, they can be extended through the action of the enzyme telomerase, which is composed of telomerase reverse transcriptase (TERT) and a telomerase RNA component (TERC). When active, telomerase adds TTAGGG repeats to the 3' ends of chromosomes. In animal studies, telomerase is found to be elevated in cancerous cells (Lu, Zhang, Liu, Songyang, & Wan, 2013), while the deletion of TERT or TERC was found to result in telomere shortening, fusion, genomic instability, and aging-related phenotypes (Blasco, Rizen, Greider, & Hanahan, 1996; Y. Liu et al., 2000). While the majority of human somatic cells do not express telomerase, even in cells where it is expressed (the most common are embryonic stem cells, male germ cells, activated lymphocytes, and certain adult stem cells) it is typically not sufficient to completely counteract the cumulative shortening of telomeres via replication and external insult (Blackburn, 1992; Cong, Wright, & Shay, 2002; Lingner, Cooper, & Cech, 1995; Shay & Wright, 2005; Wright, Piatyszek, Rainey, Byrd, & Shay, 1996). However, interesting recent work in animal models has provided evidence that by reactivating telomerase production, common symptoms of telomere degeneration such as tissue atrophy, organ failure, or stem cell depletion can be at least partially reversed (Jaskelioff et al., 2011).

IV. Telomere Length and Disease

Over the past twenty years, there has been considerable interest in the relationship between telomere length and various disease states and negative environmental factors. One of the largest areas of inquiry has been cardiovascular disease. Shorter telomere length has been linked to many components of cardiovascular disease such as heart failure (van der Harst et al., 2007), atherosclerosis (Willeit et al., 2010, Brouilette et al., 2007), and aortic valve stenosis (Kurz et al., 2006). While many associations in this area have been found, interpreting them has been more

difficult. Shorter telomere length is typically associated with an increased risk for cardiovascular disease and its various facets, however some research has demonstrated that opposite could be true. One study, for instance, found that longer telomere length was associated with increased left ventricle mass, which is thought to be a marker for chronic exposure to risk factors for cardiovascular disease (Vasan et al., 2009). Another study in mice found that shorter telomere length could actually protect against atherosclerosis by limiting the degree of cellular proliferation in the accumulation of arterial plaques (Poch et al., 2004).

Cancer researchers have also become increasingly interested in the relationship between telomere length and various forms of—or risk factors for—cancer, especially given the role of telomeres in limiting cellular proliferation and maintaining chromosomal stability. Somewhat surprisingly given the significant overlap in telomere function and cancer biology, research attempting to detect relationships between telomere length and cancer risk have been mixed. Breast cancer risk, for instance, has been associated with both long and short telomere lengths (Shen et al., 2007). A recent meta-analysis, however, suggested that shorter telomere lengths were generally associated with an increased risk for cancer (H. Ma et al., 2011).

Some research suggests that type 2 diabetes is associated with shorter telomere length. One study did find an association between the two and attributed it to higher oxidative stress levels resulting from diabetes (Salpea et al., 2010). Another paper demonstrated that telomere length was shorter in patients with diabetes, but only for those with poor glycemic control (Uziel et al., 2007). Finally, research on patients with type 1 diabetes showed that while there was no telomere length difference between patients with diabetes and the control group, shorter telomere length was an independent predictor of diabetic nephropathy in the patient group (Fyhrquist et al., 2010).

The relationship between telomere length and overall mortality has been investigated in several instances. In one study, shorter telomere length was associated with a threefold increase in risk for dying of heart disease and an eight fold increase in the risk of dying from an infectious disease (Cawthon, Smith, O'Brien, Sivatchenko, & Kerber, 2003). Two twin studies both demonstrated a significant association between shorter telomere length and overall mortality rates (Bakaysa et al., 2007; Kimura et al., 2008). However, several studies using older samples failed to find a significant link between telomere length and mortality (Bischoff et al., 2006; Houben, Giltay, Rius-Ottenheim, Hageman, & Kromhout, 2011).

Taken together, the research on telomere length and physical disease suggests there is likely a negative correlation between telomere length and various disease states. However, given the diversity in methodologies, hypotheses, and clinical contexts, drawing firm conclusions is difficult.

V. Telomere Length and Psychiatric Illness

The small literature to date on the relationship between depression and telomere length is conflicting (See Tables 1 and 2 for a summary). In an early study of telomere length and psychiatric illness, Simon et al. demonstrated an association between shorter telomere length and depression in 44 patients diagnosed with major depressive disorder and bipolar disorder compared to controls (Simon et al., 2006). Lung et al. replicated this finding in a larger sample of 253 depression patients (Lung, Chen, & Shu, 2007). Wolkowitz et al. found that shorter telomere length was associated with cumulative lifetime depression duration as well as higher levels of oxidative stress (F2-isoprostanes to vitamin C ratio) and inflammation (IL-6 concentrations) (Wolkowitz et al., 2011). In a later study, Wolkowitz et al. reported higher levels of telomerase

activity in major depressive disorder patients compared to controls and that it was also related to higher levels of depression and stress (Wolkowitz et al., 2012). Malan et al. failed to detect a significant relationship between telomere length and depression in a sample of female rape victims (Malan, Hemmings, Kidd, Martin, & Seedat, 2011). Wikgren et al. demonstrated that patients with major depressive disorder who also had low cortisol levels after a dexamethasone suppression test had shorter telomere lengths compared to controls (Wikgren, Maripuu, et al., 2012). This finding adds support to the hypothesis that effect of depression on telomere length is largely mediated by stress (i.e. chronically depressed patients are chronically stressed which leads to a state of hypocortisolism).

Shaffer et al. studied 267 patients with "probable depressive symptoms" but did not find any evidence of shorter telomere length in this group compared to healthy controls (Shaffer et al., 2012). Hoen et al. reported shorter telomere length in depressed patients, although depression was not predictive of changes in telomere length over a five-year period (Hoen et al., 2011). In contrast to the previous findings, Hartman et al. examined the relationship between telomere length and depression but did not find any effect of either the duration of the illness or treatment type (high or low antidepressant dose or electroconvulsive therapy) on telomere length (Hartmann, Boehner, Groenen, & Kalb, 2010).

In a study that included both patients with anxiety and those with depression, Hoen et al. found a significant relationship between anxiety and telomere length but not depression (Hoen et al., 2013). In a recent study by Puterman et al. of a large sample of patients with stable cardiovascular disease, a "multisystem resiliency model" (which included variables such as strong social connections, emotional regulation, and healthy sleep habits) significantly moderated the relationship between major depressive disorder and shorter telomere lengths

(Puterman et al., 2013). Verhoeven et al. analyzed data from a large national database and compared patients with both current and remitted depression to healthy controls: while both current and remitted major depressive disorder patients had significantly shorter telomere lengths, the data also indicated a "dose-response" gradient such that the most severely depressed patients showed the shortest telomere lengths (Verhoeven et al., 2013). In a cross-sectional study of 355 elderly participants from the Netherlands Study of Depression in Older Persons, Schaakxs et al. found that telomere length did not differ significantly between depressed and non-depressed participants, and that it was also not associated with the severity, age of onset, or duration of depression (Schaakxs, Verhoeven, Oude Voshaar, Comijs, & Penninx, 2014).

Szebeni et al. collected two glial cell populations (oligodendrocytes and astrocytes) from brain donors with major depressive disorder and compared telomere lengths in the two cell populations (matched with those from healthy controls). They found that telomere length in oligodendrocytes, but not astrocytes, was significantly shorter among the cells from patients with major depressive disorder, suggesting that specific cell types may be differentially resistant to the effects of oxidative stress and depression (Szebeni et al., 2014). In a similar study, Karabatsiakis et al. investigated the relationship between history of depression, current depressive symptoms, and telomere length from several specific white blood cell types associated with the adaptive immune system in 44 female participants compared with 50 age-matched controls. They found that a history of depression, regardless of the presence of current depressive symptoms, was negatively associated with telomere length, and that telomere length in CD8+ cytotoxic T cells and CD20+ B cells was especially affected by a history of depression (Karabatsiakis, Kolassa, Kolassa, Rudolph, & Dietrich, 2014).

Georgin-Lavialle et al. investigated the relationship between depression and telomere length in patients with mastocytosis. They found that while perceived stress was negatively associated with telomere length as well as more severe depression, depressive symptoms (as measured by the Beck Depression Inventory) were not independently associated with telomere length (Georgin-Lavialle et al., 2014). Liu et al. investigated telomere shortening in patients with type 2 diabetes and depression and found a significant association between depression and shortened telomere length, and that this relationship was mediated by patients' levels of oxidative stress (Z. Liu, Zhang, Yan, Wang, & Li, 2014).

Garcia-Rizo et al. investigated the effect of depression on telomere length with a focus on the potentially confounding effect of antidepressant medication use. In a sample of 15 depressed individual compared to 70 healthy controls, they found shortened telomere length in the depressed group compared to the controls independent of antidepressant use (Garcia-Rizo et al., 2013). In contrast, Needham et al. found that in 1,290 participants from the 1999-2002 National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, those participants with diagnosed major depressive disorder were more likely to have shorter telomere lengths than those who were not, but only if they were also taking antidepressant medication (Needham et al., 2014).

Using data from the West of Scotland Twent-07 Study, Phillips et al. looked at the effect of depression on telomere length in a sample of 1,063 Scottish participants. Their results were mixed in that they found a negative association between depression and telomere length in the youngest cohort at two time points, however in the other two cohorts and across other time points, as well as in the total data examined cross-sectionally, no associations were found (Phillips et al., 2013). In a similarly sized longitudinal study, Shalev et al. investigated the effect of internalizing disorders—depression, generalized anxiety disorder, and post-traumatic stress

disorder—on telomere erosion. They used data from 1,037 participants of the Dunedin Study and found that, among men but not women, telomere erosion was accelerated among participants diagnosed with depression or generalized anxiety disorder but not post-traumatic stress disorder in between time points (Shalev et al., 2014). In contrast to this finding, Ladwig et al. found that post-traumatic stress disorder but not depression was negatively associated with telomere length in a large sample of 2,528 participants from the KORA F4 study in southern Germany (Ladwig et al., 2013).

Elvsashagen et al. used a quantitative fluorescence in situ hybridization technique and found that the proportion of short telomeres was greater in bipolar II patients compared to controls but that overall mean telomere length was not (Elvsashagen et al., 2011). Kao et al. showed significant differences in telomere length in schizophrenia patients compared to control subjects (Kao et al., 2008), a finding which was replicated by Fernandez-Egea et al. (Fernandez-Egea et al., 2009) but not by Mansour et al. (Mansour et al., 2011).

The research on telomere length and dementia suggest a possible association. Two studies demonstrated that patients diagnosed with Alzheimer's disease had significantly shorter telomere length compared to control groups without an Alzheimer's diagnosis (Honig, Schupf, Lee, Tang, & Mayeux, 2006; Thomas, NJ, & Fenech, 2008). One study of elderly Down's syndrome patients with a diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease, demonstrated shorter telomere length in the T cells of the Alzheimer's patients compared to controls (Jenkins et al., 2006). Another group showed that telomere length predicted dementia in individuals who had suffered a stroke (C. Martin-Ruiz et al., 2006). However, several studies have failed to demonstrate significant relationships between telomere length and dementia. In two related studies, neither telomere length nor change in telomere length was associated with dementia or mild cognitive impairment

over a two-year span (Zekry, Herrmann, Irminger-Finger, Graf, et al., 2010; Zekry, Herrmann, Irminger-Finger, Ortolan, et al., 2010). Another group failed to find a significant association between telomere length and dementia in a longitudinal study (C. M. Martin-Ruiz, Gussekloo, van Heemst, von Zglinicki, & Westendorp, 2005). Finally, a study comparing vascular dementia patients with Alzheimer's patients (there was no control group in the study) found that telomere length did not differ significantly between groups (Lof-Ohlin, Hagnelius, & Nilsson, 2008).

The research literature on telomere length and cognition in non-dementia patients is mixed. In a large study of 2,734 elderly patients spanning a seven-year period, shorter telomere length at baseline was associated with a greater decline in performance on the Modified Mini-Mental Status Examination (Yaffe et al., 2011). Two prospective studies from the Lothian Birth Cohorts did not find any evidence of an association between telomere length and cognition (Harris et al., 2006; Harris, Martin-Ruiz, von Zglinicki, Starr, & Deary, 2012). One study reported conflicting finding showing that shorter telomere length was associated with both good and poor performance on various cognitive tests (Mather et al., 2010). Finally, one study of female twins age 19 to 78, reported longer telomere length was significantly associated with better performance on measures of working memory and finger tapping reaction time (Valdes et al., 2010).

VI. Telomere Length and Environmental Factors

In addition to disease states, many psychosocial and environmental factors are thought to be associated with telomere length. Tobacco use, which is well known to directly increase levels of oxidative stress, has been associated with shorter telomere length in several studies (Morla et al., 2006; Nawrot et al., 2010; Valdes et al., 2005), with clinical implications suggesting that

smoking a pack of cigarettes per day for 40 years may lead to an erosion of telomere length equivalent to a loss of over seven years of life. Obesity is another lifestyle factor associated with inflammation and oxidative stress, and several studies have reported an association between obesity and increased telomere length attrition (Brouilette et al., 2008; Demissie et al., 2006; D. Ma, Zhu, Hu, Yu, & Yang, 2013). Longer telomere lengths have also been associated with higher levels of vitamin D, omega-3 fatty acids, folate, as well as vitamin A and B12 (Farzaneh-Far et al., 2010; Paul et al., 2009; Richards et al., 2007; Xu et al., 2009).

Socioeconomic status has recently become the subject of study in telomere length research. A 2006 study of 1,552 female twins by Cherkas et al. found an association between lower socio-economic status and shorter telomere length (Cherkas et al., 2006). In contrast, Adams et al. did not find a significant relationship between socio-economic status and telomere length in a study composed of a homogenous birth cohort at 50 years of age (Adams et al., 2007). Batty et al. found that while there was no association between telomere length and educational attainment, unemployed men had significantly shorter telomere lengths than those who were employed (Batty et al., 2009). Woo et al. reported that higher levels of community standing were associated with shorter telomere length in men (Woo, Tang, Suen, Leung, & Wong, 2009). In two prospective cohort studies, low educational attainment was significantly associated with shorter telomere length (Steptoe et al., 2011; Surtees et al., 2012). Needham et al. reported shorter telomere length among subjects whose parents had lower educational attainment (Needham, Fernandez, Lin, Epel, & Blackburn, 2012). Finally, in a cohort of older adults, Adler et al. showed a positive association between telomere length and educational attainment, as well as interaction effects suggesting more beneficial effects of educational attainment for Blacks compared to Whites (Adler et al., 2013).

In 2004, Epel et al. found a relationship between shorter telomere length and higher levels of perceived stress, longer durations of chronic stress, and higher levels of oxidative stress (defined as a subject's F2-isoprostanes to vitamin E ration) (Epel et al., 2004). Damjanovic et al. replicated this finding while studying telomere length in Alzheimer's disease patients (Damjanovic et al., 2007). Parks et al. also found that perceived stress was associated with shorter telomere length in a sample of 647 women (Parks et al., 2009). In a similar study, Bekaert et al. reported an association between shorter telomere length and an increase in markers of inflammation and oxidative stress (Bekaert et al., 2007). Finally, Humphreys et al. reported a link between shorter telomere length and high levels of psychological stress in women who had experienced partner violence, demonstrating that duration of time spent in the abusive relationship and having children was associated with shorter telomere length (Humphreys et al., 2012).

Several studies have also linked shorter telomere length to various forms of childhood adversity and stress, including maltreatment (Tyrka et al., 2010), severe social deprivation (Drury et al., 2012), and trauma (O'Donovan et al., 2011). Shalev et al. reported that a child's exposure to two or more types of violence (e.g. domestic violence, bullying, physical maltreatment) was significantly associated with more rapid telomere erosion between the ages of five and ten (Shalev et al., 2013). Keicolt-Glaser et al. found that childhood adversity moderated the effect of later-life stress and telomere length in older caregivers (Kiecolt-Glaser et al., 2011). One study by Theall et al. reported that children living in neighborhoods which were characterized as "high disorder" (that is, chaotic and unpredictable) had shorter telomere lengths compared to children living in less disordered neighborhoods (Theall, McKasson, Mabile, Dunaway, & Drury, 2013). Finally, childhood adversities and early life stress have also been

associated with shorter telomere length, both in samples of patients with anxiety disorders and cancer as well as healthy controls (Kananen et al., 2010; Surtees et al., 2011).

In 2008, Ludlow et al. investigated the relationship between telomere length, telomerase activity, and physical activity. They found that a moderate level of physical exercise was associated with longer telomere length compared with high or low levels of physical activity (Ludlow et al., 2008). Cherkas et al. also studied the relationship between telomere length and physical activity in 2,401 healthy twins and found that the telomere lengths of the most active subjects were longer than those of age and sex controlled non-exercisers (Cherkas et al., 2008). Moderate physical activity and exercise in midlife has also been reported to moderate the relationship between increased stress and shorter telomeres (Puterman et al., 2010), as well as being associated with longer telomere lengths in old age (Savela et al., 2013). In one study ultra-marathon runners had significantly longer telomere lengths compared to controls (Denham et al., 2013). Savela et al. found that in a sample of 7,813 women, moderate to vigorous physical activity was associated with increased telomere length (Savela et al., 2013). In contrast to the above findings, Mathur et al. compared 17 marathon runners to 15 age and sex-matched sedentary controls and found no difference in telomere lengths (Mathur et al., 2013).

One of the more interesting though little studied variables in the research on telomere length is sleep. Liang et al. showed a significant relationship between telomere length and sleep duration in women under age 50 but not in those over 50 (Liang et al., 2011). Prather et al. reported that in a community-dwelling sample of healthy women, sleep duration and onset were not related to telomere length but that chronic poor sleep quality was (Prather et al., 2011). However, another study by Jackowska et al. of older adults reported that short sleep duration was associated with shorter telomeres but only in men (Jackowska et al., 2012). In a recent study of

human immunodeficiency virus infected adults, Lee et al. found that increased sleep duration was associated with longer telomere length, though self-reported sleep quality was not associated with telomere length (K. A. Lee et al., 2014).

VII. Telomere Length and APOE Genotype

One of the most widely studied genes, APOE, is responsible for the production of apolipoprotein E, a glycoprotein with a variety of functions including lipid metabolism and transport, triglyceride homeostasis, and immunomodulation (Zhang, Wu, & Wu, 2011). The gene and its allelic variations have been widely studied in a variety of pathologies and conditions including cardiovascular disease (Knopman et al., 2009), multiple sclerosis (Shi, Zhao, Vollmer, Tyry, & Kuniyoshi, 2008), and Alzheimer's disease (Kim, Basak, & Holtzman, 2009).

In part due to its modulatory influence on cytokines and therefore various inflammatory processes and cellular stress, APOE has more recently been investigated in the context of telomere length. In a study of 253 patients with major depressive disorder, Lung et al. (Lung et al., 2007) found an association between the APOE(2) allele variant and increased telomere length, suggesting that the APOE(2) allele might serve a "buffering" effect against telomere length shortening in major depressive disorder. Wikgren et al. studied 427 healthy individuals and found that carriers of the APOE(4) allele had significantly higher rates of telomere shortening compared with non-carriers (Wikgren, Karlsson, et al., 2012). The authors suggest that this finding may be due to a finding from previous research showing distinct anti-inflammatory and antioxidant properties of the three APOE isoforms ($e_2 > e_3 > e_4$) (Jofre-Monseny, Minihane, & Rimbach, 2008). Jacobs et al. similarly found increased telomere attrition rates over a two-year period among female APOE(4) carriers (Jacobs et al., 2013). Zerky et al.,

however, found no association between telomere length and APOE allele variant (Zekry, Herrmann, Irminger-Finger, Graf, et al., 2010).

VIII. Genetic Variants and Depression

It is increasingly apparent that a better understanding the biological basis of depression is crucial to making progress in the treatment of depression. In the United States, major depression has a 16.9% lifetime prevalence rate and the largest impact of any disease on disability (Demyttenaere et al., 2004), to say nothing of the heavy burden it places on health care systems (2001). While both pharmacological and behavioral treatments have shown some efficacy (Cuijpers, Andersson, Donker, & van Straten, 2011; Khin, Chen, Yang, Yang, & Laughren, 2011), it is difficult to predict who will respond, in what time frame, and under what circumstances. A better understanding of the biological origins of depression—its genetic foundation in particular—would likely enable far more effective interventions and preventative measures (Doherty & Owen, 2014). But despite progress in other disease states, to date the genetic analysis of depression has yielded few successes (Cohen-Woods, Craig, & McGuffin, 2013).

A genetic basis for depression has been contemplated since the early part of the 20th century, with most family studies suggesting a greater than 2.0 odds ratio increased risk of developing major depressive disorder in first-degree relatives (Sullivan et al., 2009). Results from twin studies also support a strong genetic component in the development of major depressive disorder (Kendler, Gatz, Gardner, & Pedersen, 2006), including a recent meta-analysis of twin studies to date that calculated a combined heritability estimate for major depression of 37% (Sullivan, Neale, & Kendler, 2000). There has also been shown to be a higher prevalence rate of major depression for women, and further analyses have shown that depression

is significantly more heritable in women than in men (Weissman et al., 1996). Twin studies have also corroborated the above heritability rates, suggesting that similar environmental factors did not significantly contribute to the increased heritability (Kendler, Gardner, Neale, & Prescott, 2001; Kendler et al., 2006). Taken together, the evidence suggests that there is a clear genetic component to risk for developing depression. While family and heritability research strongly implicates genetic variation in the development and maintenance of depression, elucidating the underlying mechanics of this association has proved a difficult task.

The candidate gene approach is one common method for associating variance in genetic makeup (genotype) with specific traits or diseases (phenotype). In this approach, individual genes are selected *a priori* based on knowledge of the gene's specific function or influence in regard to the phenotype in question. The experimental group with the genetic variant in question is then compared to a control group which does not have the genetic variant and the frequency of the phenotype in question is compared between groups. A major limitation of this approach is that it requires and assumes information about a specific gene and its relationship to the phenotype in question. As a result, candidate gene approaches are often more useful in a confirmatory rather than exploratory function.

According to a recent reviews of candidate gene approaches, 200 genes have been investigated across approximately 1,500 separate studies of depression, however these studies are generally inconsistent (Bosker et al., 2011; Flint & Kendler, 2014). After reviewing metaanalyses of the 26 most promising genes, seven genes reached significance: 5HTTP/SLC6A4, DRD4, APOE, GNB3, MTHFR, HTR1A, and SLC6A3. However it is likely that these were false positives since they were not replicated in studies using a more advanced methodology (described below) (Flint & Kendler, 2014).

A second method for studying the relationship between genetic variation and specific phenotypes is the genome-wide association study (GWAS), which compares the entire genome of an experimental group with that of a control group to determine if specific DNA sequence variations (single-nucleotide polymorphisms or SNPs) vary predictably in the experimental group compared to the control group. If so, these SNPs are then said to be associated with the particular phenotype in question. Later confirmatory analyses such as the candidate gene approach may be useful subsequently in refining the analysis.

The GWAS was first successfully implemented in 2005 (R. J. Klein et al., 2005). Since that time, a huge variety of traits and disease states have been investigated (Johnson & O'Donnell, 2009). While thousands of SNPs have been identified and associated with specific disease states, the vast majority of these genetic variants have had only very limited power individually to predict specific phenotypes (Manolio, 2010). As a result, GWAS have tended to use increasingly large sample sizes in order to more reliably detect significant differences and also to investigate more specific phenotypes (Ioannidis, Thomas, & Daly, 2009).

A recent review (Flint & Kendler, 2014) summarized the nine published GWAS of major depression to date. They summarized their findings by noting:

Nothing significant has been found and indeed many of the papers and reviews of this field make that point... Overall, we can conclude that no study has robustly identified a locus that exceeds genome-wide significance for major depression or genetically related traits.

It has been suggested that the primary cause for these negative finding is that GWAS have largely been underpowered and thus unable to detect contributory genetic variants. While GWAS are quite good at detecting common variants that have small effects, they are less useful for discovering rare variants (Wray et al., 2012), which may possess much larger relative effects.

A related methodology called exome-wide association study (EWAS) has recently increased in popularity, in part due to the high costs and inefficient nature of GWAS (Do, Kathiresan, & Abecasis, 2012). The exome is the section of the genome formed by exons, which are the protein-coding portions of the genome that remain in RNA after transcription. While relatively small in frequency (exons constitute approximately 1% of the entire genome), exons are important since mutations in the exome are far more likely to have significant phenotypic consequences than mutations in the rest of the genome. In fact, approximately 85% of the mutations which have a large effect on disease states occur in the exome (M. Choi et al., 2009). The value of the EWAS is that it is able to more powerfully and efficiently uncover rare coding variants not typically seen by GWAS (Kiezun et al., 2012). Though this methodology is relatively new, several studies have identified rare variants not detected by GWAS that contribute to a given disease state, including insulin secretion and type II diabetes (Huyghe et al., 2013), prostate cancer (Oh et al., 2015), and Alzheimer's disease (J. A. Chen et al., 2015).
CHAPTER III

Methods

I. Aims and Hypotheses

<u>Primary Aim</u>: To investigate the relationship between telomere length and depression.¹

<u>Hypothesis I</u>: Depression scores will be negatively associated with telomere length. Scores on both primary and secondary measures of depression will be negatively associated with telomere length in a basic model controlling for age and gender, as well as in a full model controlling for ethnic/racial status, body mass index (BMI), education, tobacco use, and antidepressant use.

<u>Secondary Aim I:</u> To investigate the relationship between telomere length and depression in the context of ethnic/racial differences.

<u>Hypothesis II</u>: Depression scores will be negatively associated with telomere length across ethnic/racial subgroups. Scores on both measures of depression will be negatively associated with telomere length in both basic and full models within three ethnic/racial subgroups: African American, Caucasian, and Hispanic.

<u>Secondary Aim II:</u> To investigate the relationship between telomere length and depression in the context of APOE allele variation.

Hypothesis III: Presence of the APOE(4) allele will influence the relationship

¹ Although we cannot determine the presence of clinically diagnosed depression, for clarity and simplicity the term depression is used broadly throughout the manuscript to refer to the entire

between telomere length and depression such that for carriers

of the APOE(4) allele, the negative association between telomere length and depressive will be stronger than for non-carriers of the APOE(4) allele. The APOE(2) and APOE(3) alleles will not significantly influence the association between depression and telomere length.

<u>Secondary Aim III:</u> To investigate the relationship between telomere length and depression in the context of differences in self-reported sleep quantity.

<u>Hypothesis IV</u>: Self-reported hours of sleep per night will influence the relationship between telomere length and depression such that the negative relationship between telomere length and depression will be stronger for subjects who report receiving fewer hours of sleep per night.

Exploratory Aim: To identify potential genetic contributors to depression using a novel exomewide analysis.

<u>Hypothesis V</u>: Using an EWAS to examine rare coding variants, significant positive associations between specific SNPs and the primary measure of depression will be identified.

II. Study Sample Overview

The Dallas Heart Study (DHS) (Victor et al., 2004) is a population-based, multiethnic study of over 6,000 adults from Dallas County. It was designed to include 50% African American and 50% non-African American participants. Initial data collection took place over a two-year period

from 2000-2002. This first collection of data is referred to as DHS-1. In 2007, the study was converted from a cross-sectional design to a longitudinal one. Referred to as DHS-2, this second wave of the study invited all previous DHS-1 participants to return for repeat evaluation. 3,408 participants had available telomere length data and comprise the population on which the present analysis is based.

This subset included 1,678 African American participants (50.7%), 1,077 Non-Hispanic Caucasian participants (32.5%), 465 Hispanic participants (14%), 69 participants classified as "other" (2.1%), and 23 participants classified as "unknown" (0.7%). There were 1,960 females (59.2%) and 1,352 males (40.8%). The mean age of participants was 50 years.

Based on the above subset of the DHS sample, the study sample was further clarified according to the following criteria: Only participants who identified as African American, Caucasian, or Hispanic were included. Additionally, any participant with missing data on the primary measure of depression was excluded. On the basis of these criteria, the final sample used for primary analysis for the study consisted of a total of 2,710 participants.

III. Telomere Length

There are several commonly used methods to measure telomere length. Terminal Restriction Fragment (TRF) length analysis—generally considered the gold standard—uses a specific variant of the Southern blotting technique to analyze telomere DNA. The end result is a mean telomere length for a given cell population. While highly regarded, TRF is not without its shortcomings: it has difficulty detecting very short telomeres and requires a relatively substantial quantity of DNA. TRF is also considered one of the more technically difficult methods for measuring telomere length (Aubert, Hills, & Lansdorp, 2012).

Several other techniques are based on polymerase chain reaction (PCR), a method that involves increasing the number of copies of a region of DNA. Because this method focuses on a specific genetic region, it is possible to achieve an accurate estimate of telomere length with a smaller quantity of DNA. Single telomere length analysis measures the length of a single chromosome end. Monochrome multiplex PCR and quantitative PCR both determine a ratio of the telomere and a standard single gene copy. While these methods of telomere length based on PCR require relatively few cells, the variability within and between samples is high (Bojesen, 2013).

Fluorescent in situ hybridization (FISH) is an alternative technique that uses either flow cytometry (flow FISH) or digital microscopy (quantitative FISH) to determine the average telomere length. Advantages of the FISH techniques are that they tend to be highly accurate in their measurements and also capable of detecting relatively subtle changes in telomere length. However, both FISH techniques also require fresh cell samples and can also be technically challenging and time consuming (Canela, Vera, Klatt, & Blasco, 2007).

In the current study, DNA was taken from circulating leukocytes using an Autopure LS (Qiagen, Valencia, CA). As previously described (Diaz de Leon et al., 2010), a quantitative PCR method was employed to determine telomere lengths, with several modifications as described in another paper (Kozlitina & Garcia, 2012). Telomere length is expressed as a ratio of the copy number of telomere DNA to single-copy gene (T/S). Additionally, a "relative T/S" represents the ratio of the T/S for the experimental sample to the T/S for a specific cultured cell line with very short telomeres (MCF7). Finally, the mean relative T/S is the average of at least two independent measurements.

IV. Depression

The Quick Inventory of Depressive Symptomatology (QIDS) (Rush et al., 2003) is a 16-item inventory for quantifying the severity of depressive symptoms in a brief but valid form. In the present study, the self-report version was used. It is based on the larger 30-item Inventory of Depressive Symptomatology (IDS) (Rush, Gullion, Basco, Jarrett, & Trivedi, 1996). The QIDS was designed to assess all of the major symptom domains defined in the American Psychiatric Association's *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorder* – 4th edition (DSM-IV) (*Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*, 2000) used to diagnose major depressive episodes. These symptom domains include: sad mood, concentration difficulties, self-criticism, suicidal ideation, lack of interest, energy/fatigue, sleep disturbance (including initial, middle or late insomnia, and hypersomnia), changes in appetite or weight, and psychomotor agitation or retardation. Each item is scored on a severity scale from 0 through 3.

The scoring procedure for the QIDS results in a single final score (referred to subsequently as "QIDS score"), which is calculated by taking the sum of the following:

The highest score among questions 1-4 Question 5 The highest score among questions 6-9 Question 10 Question 11 Question 12 Question 13 Question 14

The highest score among questions 15-16

The QIDS score may range from 0 to 27. Interpretation guidelines for the severity of depressive symptoms are as follows: 1-5, none; 6-10, mild; 11-15, moderate; 16-20, severe; 21-27, very severe (Rush et al., 2003; Trivedi et al., 2004). The QIDS has been shown to be a valid measure of depressive symptomatology: In a study of 596 adult outpatients, Rush et al. found that the QIDS had high correlations with the IDS (r = .96) as well as the Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression, including the 17, 21, and 24 item versions (r = .81, r = .82, r = .84, respectively) (Trivedi et al., 2004). The QIDS score was used as the primary measure of depression.

In addition to the QIDS, the DHS also gave participants a questionnaire that asked them several questions related to the participants' mood. One of these (referred to subsequently as the "felt depressed score") pertained to low mood and was included as an additional measure of depression. The questions were prefaced with the following text:

These questions are about how you feel and how things have been going with you during the past four weeks. For each question please give the one answer that comes closest to the way you have been feeling.

How much of the time during the past four weeks have you felt downhearted and depressed?

Responses were given on a 5-point scale ranging from "All of the time" to "None of the time." Responses were reverse scored on a scale ranging from 0 (*none of the time*) to 4 (*all of the time*). The felt depressed score was used as the secondary measure of depression.

V. APOE

Three variables were computed based on the presence of each of the three APOE allele isoforms: e2, e3, and e4. Any participant who was either homozygous or heterozygous for the e2 allele was dummy coded as a 1 on the APOE(2) variable; all other participants were coded as a 0. The same procedure was used to compute APOE(3) and APOE(4) variables dependent on the presence of the e3 and e4 alleles, respectively.

VI. Sleep

The DHS health questionnaire asked participants to enumerate the hours of sleep they achieved on a regular basis. The question was as follows:

How many hours of sleep do you usually get in:

- A workday (school) night?
- A weekend or non-work night?

Data from both of these questions was combined to produce an "average nightly sleep hours" variable.

VII. Exome-Wide Association Study

All analyses for the exome-wide association study were performed using data from 4,625 participants in the DHS (Victor et al, 2004). The sample is a probability-based population sample of Dallas County. Participants were ascertained from census tracts, with oversampling of tracts

with a high proportion of African Americans to ensure equal representation of African Americans and Caucasians.

Genomic DNA extracted from circulating leukocytes from all participants was genotyped with an Illumina Infinium HumanExome BeadChip (Illumina, San Diego, CA, USA). The BeadChip interrogates 247,870 markers, including functional exonic variants (>90%), diseaseassociated tag markers from recently published GWAS, and ancestry-informative markers. Genotypes were called using Illumina GenomeStudio software. Quality-control filters were applied to samples and variants prior to the analysis. Participants were excluded under the following conditions: a call rate less than 99% (n = 25) or duplicate discordance (n = 1). Variants were excluded if the call rate was less than 99% (n = 1,795) or the genotype frequencies deviated from Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium in African Americans with p < 0.0001 (n = 221). Finally, after removing variants that were monomorphic (n = 75,970) or had a single carrier (n = 29,167) and participants without QIDS data, a total of 140,717 variants and 2,949 individuals were available for analysis.

VIII. Statistical Analyses for Aims and Hypotheses

Primary Aim: To investigate the relationship between telomere length and depression.

<u>Hypothesis I</u>: Depression scores will be negatively associated with telomere length. Scores on both primary and secondary measures of depression will be negatively associated with telomere length in a basic model controlling for age and gender, as well as in a full model controlling for ethnic/racial status, BMI, education, tobacco use, and antidepressant use.

Statistical Analysis: Multiple linear regression was used to measure the dependent variable of telomere length with either QIDS score or felt depressed score as the primary independent variable. In basic models, age and gender were included as covariates and in full models ethnicity/race, BMI, education, tobacco use, and antidepressant use were added as covariates. Gender, tobacco use, and antidepressant use were treated as dichotomous variables.

<u>Secondary Aim I:</u> To investigate the relationship between telomere length and depression in the context of ethnic/racial differences.

<u>Hypothesis II</u>: Depression scores will be negatively associated with telomere length across ethnic/racial subgroups. Scores on both measures of depression will be negatively associated with telomere length in both basic and full models within three ethnic/racial subgroups: African American, Caucasian, and Hispanic.

<u>Statistical Analysis</u>: Multiple linear regression was used to measure the dependent variable of telomere length with either QIDS score or felt depressed score as the primary independent variable within each ethnic/racial group. Model structures and covariates were identical to those of the primary aim.

<u>Secondary Aim II:</u> To investigate the relationship between telomere length and depression in the context of APOE allele variation.

<u>Hypothesis III</u>: Presence of the APOE(4) allele will influence the relationship between telomere length and depression such that for carriers of the APOE(4) allele, the negative association between telomere length and depression will be stronger than for non-carriers of the APOE(4) allele. The APOE(2) and APOE(3) alleles will not significantly influence the association between depression and telomere length. <u>Statistical Analysis</u>: Multiple linear regression was used to measure the dependent variable of telomere length with either QIDS score or felt depressed score along with APOE(2, 3, or 4) as the primary independent variables. Gender and age were included as covariates. Finally, an interaction term between APOE status and QIDS score was also included.

<u>Secondary Aim III:</u> To investigate the relationship between telomere length and depression in the context of differences in self-reported sleep quantity.

<u>Hypothesis IV</u>: Self-reported hours of sleep per night will influence the relationship between telomere length and depression such that the negative relationship between telomere length and depression will be stronger for subjects who report receiving fewer hours of sleep per night.

<u>Statistical Analysis</u>: Multiple linear regression was used to measure the dependent variable of telomere length with either QIDS score or felt depressed score along with average hours of nightly sleep as the primary independent variables. Gender and age were included as covariates. An interaction term between QIDS score and average hours of nightly sleep was also included in the model.

Exploratory Aim: To identify potential genetic contributors to depression using a novel exomewide analysis. <u>Hypothesis V</u>: Using an EWAS to examine rare coding variants, significant positive associations between specific SNPs and the primary measure of depression will be identified.

<u>Statistical Analysis</u>: Each variant was tested for association with QIDS score using a linear regression model including age, gender, BMI, and four principal components of ancestry as covariates. Additive effects of variants were tested by coding the genotypes 0, 1, and 2. A square root transformation was applied to QIDS scores prior to analysis to achieve approximate normality of

the residuals. Exome-wide significance for the number of tests performed was set at 3.6×10^{-7} .

CHAPTER IV

Results

I. Descriptive Statistics

The initial sample consisted of 3,408 participants from the Dallas Heart Study. We excluded 104 participants whose ethnicity/race was described as "unknown" (n = 35) or "other" (n = 69). As a group, these participants did not differ significantly from the rest of the sample on telomere length (t = 0.781, p = .440). We also excluded any participants with missing data from either of the primary variables of interest—the QIDS (n = 568) or telomere length (n = 96). The group of participants excluded for missing QIDS data did not differ significantly from the rest of the sample on telomere length (t = 1.50, p = .132). The total sample for primary analyses consisted of 2,710 participants.

Descriptive statistics for the whole sample are provided in Table 3. The mean age for the sample was 49.7 years (SD = 11.1) and the majority of participants were women (59%). The sample consisted of 1,387 African Americans (51%), 950 Caucasians (35%), and 373 Hispanics (14%). The mean years of education was 12.7 (SD = 2.2). The mean BMI was 31.29 (SD = 7.43), while 1,199 subjects (45%) had a history of tobacco use and 11% were currently prescribed an antidepressant. The mean telomere length was 1.80 (SD = 0.30). The mean QIDS score was 5.51 (SD = 3.87). The mean felt depressed score was 0.86 (SD = 1.02). The mean average hours of sleep per night was 6.8 (SD = 1.4). Regarding APOE genotype, 261 subjects (15%) were carriers of the e4 allele, 1,602 (93%) were carriers of the e3 allele, and 550 (32%) were carriers of the e4 allele. Descriptive statistics are also reported for ethnic/racial subgroups in Tables 4 through 6,

including the results of chi-square or F-tests tests for significant differences in descriptive statistics between ethnic/racial subgroups.

II. Results for Aims and Hypotheses

Primary Aim: *To investigate the relationship between leukocyte telomere length and depression.*

<u>Hypothesis I</u>: *Depression will be negatively associated with telomere length.* Results for the analysis of the association between QIDS score and telomere length in a basic model is provided in Table 7, while results for the analysis of the association between QIDS score and telomere length in a fully adjusted model are provided in Table 8. The QIDS was not significantly associated with telomere length in either the basic or fully adjusted model. The data, therefore, did not support the hypothesis that depression would be negatively associated with telomere length.

Results for the analysis of the association between felt depressed score and telomere length in a basic model are provided in Table 9, while results for the analysis of the association between felt depressed score and telomere length in a fully adjusted model is provided in Table 10. The felt depressed score was significantly associated with telomere length in both the basic and fully adjusted model. These data, therefore, provide some support for the hypothesis that depression would be negatively associated with telomere length.

Secondary Aim I: To investigate the relationship between telomere length and depression in the context of ethnic/racial differences.

<u>Hypothesis II</u>: Depression will be negatively associated with telomere length across ethnic/racial subgroups.

Results for the analysis among African American participants of the association between QIDS score and telomere length in a basic model are provided in Table 11, while results for the analysis among African American participants of the association between QIDS score and telomere length in a fully adjusted model are provided in Table 12. The QIDS was not significantly associated with telomere length in either the basic or fully adjusted model. The data, therefore, did not support the hypothesis that depression would be negatively associated with telomere length among African American participants.

Results for the analysis among African American participants of the association between felt depressed score and telomere length in a basic model are provided in Table 13, while results for the analysis among African American participants of the association between felt depressed score and telomere length in a fully adjusted model is provided in Table 14. The felt depressed score was significantly associated with telomere length in both the basic and fully adjusted models. These data, therefore, provide support for the hypothesis that depression would be negatively associated with telomere length specifically among African American participants.

Results for the analysis among Caucasian participants of the association between QIDS score and telomere length in a basic model are provided in Table 15, while results for the analysis among Caucasian participants of the association between QIDS score and telomere length in a fully adjusted model is provided in Table 16. The QIDS was significantly associated with telomere length in both the basic and fully adjusted model. The data, therefore, support the hypothesis that depression would be negatively associated with telomere length specifically among Caucasian participants.

Results for the analysis among Caucasian participants of the association between felt depressed score and telomere length in a basic model are provided in Table 17, while results for the analysis among Caucasian participants of the association between felt depressed score and telomere length in a fully adjusted model is provided in Table 18. The felt depressed score was not significantly associated with telomere length in either the basic or fully adjusted model. These data, therefore, qualify the hypothesis that depression would be negatively associated with telomere length specifically among Caucasian participants as one but not both measures of depression was negatively associated with telomere length.

Results for the analysis among Hispanic participants of the association between QIDS score and telomere length in a basic model are provided in Table 19, while results for the analysis among Hispanic participants of the association between QIDS score and telomere length in a fully adjusted model is provided in Table 20. The QIDS was not significantly associated with telomere length in either the basic or fully adjusted model. The data, therefore, did not support the hypothesis that depression would be negatively associated with telomere length specifically among Hispanic participants.

Results for the analysis among Hispanic participants of the association between felt depressed score and telomere length in a basic model are provided in Table 21, while results for the analysis among Hispanic participants of the association between felt depressed score and telomere length in a fully adjusted model is provided in Table 22. The felt depressed score was not significantly associated with telomere length in either the basic or fully adjusted model. These data, therefore, do not support the hypothesis that depression would be negatively associated with telomere length specifically among Hispanic participants.

Secondary Aim II: To investigate the relationship between telomere length and depression in the context of APOE allele variation.

<u>Hypothesis III</u>: Presence of the APOE(4) allele will influence the negative relationship between telomere length and depression such that for carriers of the APOE(4) allele, the relationship between leukocyte telomere length and depression will be stronger than for non-carriers of the APOE(4) allele. The APOE(2) and APOE(3) alleles will not have significant moderating effects of the relationship between depression and telomere length.

Results for the analysis of the association between telomere length and QIDS score in the context of APOE(4) allele variation are provided in Table 29. While age and gender were both significant predictors of telomere length, QIDS score, APOE(4) carrier status, and the QIDS-by-APOE(4) interaction were not. Results for the analysis of the association between telomere length and felt depressed score in the context of APOE(4) allele variation are provided in Table 30. Similarly, while age and gender were both significant predictors of telomere length, felt depressed score, APOE(4) carrier status, and the felt depressed-by-APOE(4) interaction were not. These results do not support the hypothesis that the presence of the APOE(4) allele will influence the negative relationship between telomere length and depression.

Results for the analysis of the association between telomere length and QIDS score in the context of APOE(2) allele variation are provided in Table 25. While age and gender were both significant predictors of telomere length, QIDS score, APOE(2) carrier status, and the QIDS-by-APOE(2) interaction were not. Results for the analysis of the association between telomere length and felt depressed score in the context of APOE(2) allele variation are provided in Table 26. Age, gender, and felt depressed score were all significant predictors of telomere length,

however APOE(2) carrier status, and the felt depressed-by-APOE(2) interaction were not. These results support the hypothesis that the presence of the APOE(2) allele would not influence the negative relationship between telomere length and depression.

Results for the analysis of the association between telomere length and QIDS score in the context of APOE(3) allele variation are provided in Table 27. While age and gender were both significant predictors of telomere length, QIDS score, APOE(3) carrier status, and the QIDS-by-APOE(3) interaction were not. Results for the analysis of the association between telomere length and felt depressed score in the context of APOE(3) allele variation are provided in Table 28. Age, gender, felt depressed score, APOE(3) carrier status, and the felt depressed-by-APOE(3) interaction were all significant predictors of telomere length. These results do not support the hypothesis that the presence of the APOE(3) allele would not influence the negative relationship between telomere length and depression.

Secondary Aim III: *To investigate the relationship between telomere length and depression in the context of differences in self-reported sleep quantity.*

<u>Hypothesis IV</u>: Self-reported hours of sleep per night will influence the negative relationship between telomere length and depression such that the relationship between telomere length and depression will be stronger for subjects who report receiving fewer hours of sleep per night.

Results for the analysis of the association between telomere length and QIDS score in the context of sleep quantity are provided in Table 23. While age and gender were both significant predictors of telomere length, QIDS score, sleep quantity, and the QIDS-by-sleep interaction were not. Results for the analysis of the association between telomere length and felt depressed score in the

context of sleep quantity are provided in Table 24. Similarly, while age and gender were both significant predictors of telomere length, felt depressed score, sleep quantity, and the felt depressed-by-sleep interaction were not. These results do not support the hypothesis that sleep quantity will influence the negative relationship between telomere length and depression.

Exploratory Aim: To identify potential genetic contributors to depression using a novel exomewide analysis.

<u>Hypothesis V</u>: Using an EWAS to examine rare coding variants, significant positive associations between specific SNPs and QIDS score will be identified.

In the primary analysis, none of the associations between the sequence variants and QIDS scores reached exome-wide significance (i.e. none were significant after correcting for multiple testing). All variants with a p-value less than 1.0E-04 (n=60) were then examined to determine if they matched loci that had previously been associated with depression. However, none of the top hits appear to have been previously implicated in depression. Finally we collated the top variants from the published GWAS meta-analyses (P <1x10⁻⁷ in at least one analysis) with our association data. A total of 811 SNPs in our dataset that were located within 1 Mb of the top literature SNP were examined. Of these, 50 had a nominal association (p < 0.05) with QIDS score. The three leading variants from a recent meta-analysis of GWAS in depression (Flint and Kendler, 2014) were not associated with QIDS score. In general, these results do not support the hypothesis that significant positive associations between specific SNPs and QIDS score will be identified.

CHAPTER V

Discussion

I. Depression-Telomere Length Association Analysis

The primary finding of the present study was that QIDS score was not significantly associated with telomere length in either a basic or fully adjusted model comprised of the whole sample. This finding is consistent with much of the recent literature on the relationship between depression and telomere length, especially the larger cross-sectional studies most similar to the present study, which have generally not found an association between depression and telomere length. Among the case control studies, five showed a significant association between depression and telomere length, three did not find a significant relationship, and four had mixed findings (see Table 1). Among cross sectional studies, one showed a significant association, while six did not show a significant relationship and two had mixed findings (see Table 2).

While the QIDS score was not significantly associated with telomere length in the whole sample, the felt depressed score was. As this measure is unique to the present study, it is difficult to interpret in light of the previous literature. Still, that different measures of depression were differentially associated with telomere length in the present study is consistent with the literature as a whole given the variety of depression measures used and the correspondingly varied results. Two important factors may help to explain these generally discrepant findings: methodological factors in the measurement of depression and ethnic/racial factors in the experience and reporting of depression.

Methodological Factors in the Measurement of Depression

One of the most challenging aspects in the study of the relationship between depression and telomere length is the definition and measurement of depression. Many of the early studies in the area used clinician administered clinical interviews to determine the presence or absence of a diagnosis of clinical depression. This has traditionally been considered the gold standard approach. However, as the trend in study design moved away from case-controlled study designs and toward more cross-sectional, epidemiological-style designs (which often include thousands, rather than tens or hundreds, of participants), administering full clinical interviews to each participant became less feasible. As a result, many of the newer and larger studies have used briefer depression checklists or questionnaires designed to identify the presence of depressive symptoms and consequently approximate a full diagnosis.

Interestingly, this shift away from the traditional clinical interview toward symptombased measures coincided with a similar shift in the thinking of many clinical researchers regarding how best to conceptualize depression. Increasingly depression is being considered as a cluster of often only tangentially related symptoms rather than a single, monolithic structure (Goldberg, 2011). As evidenced by recent changes in the DSM-5, this shift parallels a larger shift in thinking about mental health disorders from a categorical to a dimensional approach (D. N. Klein, 2008). Rather than trying to fit the many often discrepant symptoms of depression into a single category, the trend has been to embrace the heterogeneous nature of depression (Major Depressive Disorder Working Group of the Psychiatric et al., 2013).

These two types of measures—clinical interview or symptom-based scale—provide different strengths and weaknesses. While a trained and experienced clinician using a clinical interview may have the most likelihood of diagnosing true depression, they are more vulnerable

to bias in less experienced administrators, are costly and time-intensive, and also result in a dichotomous yes-no outcome variable, which provides researchers with less power to detect significant differences. Symptom-based assessments address these concerns in that the subjects are the ones reporting their own symptoms (which may decrease at least some forms of bias), the measures are more expedient and cost effective, and they also result in continuous outcome variables which increase power in a research setting. However, they may suffer from a lack of specificity. Thus, someone with a sleep disorder and mild to moderate stressors in their life could easily elevate a symptom-based measure without true depression being the cause.

Given these methodological differences, our discrepant results (as well as those of the literature as a whole) may be at least partly the result of different assessment tools measuring different constructs. One interpretation is that neither QIDS score nor felt depressed score are sensitive to depression, and instead, that the felt depressed question was significant because it was registering some alternative construct also related to telomere length. One such possibility is perceived stress, which has been shown to be negatively associated with telomere length (Georgin-Lavialle et al., 2014; Parks et al., 2009) and is even thought to be a mediating factor in the relationship between depression and telomere length (Gotlib et al., 2014). Although highly speculative, the felt depressed item—perhaps because of its more casual appearance relative to the QIDS—might have been more sensitive to a general sense of chronic distress than the QIDS.

Ethnic/racial Factors in Depression

Another possible explanation for the present study's discrepant results may be related to its ethnic/racial composition. Despite the commonly held view that risk for psychiatric disorders is increased in ethic/racial minority groups in the United States due to social adversity

(Dohrenwend, 2000), research to date has generally not supported that conclusion. Several community studies have found that, despite higher rates of social and economic adversity (Clark, Anderson, Clark, & Williams, 1999; Turner & Lloyd, 2004), members of ethnic/racial minority groups do not show elevated rates of psychiatric disorders (Kessler et al., 1994).

More recent research in this area has, in fact, shown decreased rates of depression in ethnic/racial minorities compared with Caucasians, (Breslau, Kendler, Su, Gaxiola-Aguilar, and Kessler (2005), potentially as a result of so-called buffering effects from factors such as ethnic identification (Mossakowski, 2003) or increased religious affiliation (Ellison, Boardman, Williams, & Jackson, 2001; B. Lee & Newberg, 2005). However there is some evidence that while incidence of depression is lower among African Americans, the duration of illness is substantially longer, leading to the conceptualization of depression as a chronic rather than episodic disorder among African Americans (Jackson & Stewart, 2003). These finding should be interpreted with caution given that ethnic/racial minorities are typically underserved and understudied in the context of mental health generally (Sohail, Bailey, & Richie, 2014).

Although rates of psychiatric disorders—and depression in particular—may not be elevated in ethnic/racial minorities, some research suggests that there may be differences in the reporting of depressive symptoms. In a study of African American and Caucasian older adults, Gallo et al. (1998) found that African American participants were less likely than Caucasian participants to endorse symptoms related to sadness. Jaggers et al (2007) found increased rates of depression in Caucasians compared to African Americans, however a wider range of moderating variables including marital status, employment status, and age influenced African Americans' reporting of symptoms. A recent review (Bagayogo, Interian, & Escobar, 2013) summarized the

literature in this area by emphasizing the importance of ethnic/racial differences in somatic symptom expression in depression specifically:

Racial/ethnic variations in somatic symptoms in the context of depression are common, and seem to be related to depression severity. Sociocultural factors, particularly stigma, may influence the unique emphasis placed on somatic symptoms within depression, and may account for some racial/ethnic differences in somatic symptom reporting.

Given that Caucasians and African Americans may differ in their experience and reporting of depressive symptoms, it is possible that the QIDS and the felt depressed question may be differentially sensitive to these ethnic/racial differences. For example, given research suggesting African Americans are less likely to endorse depressive symptoms related to sadness explicitly (as it is presented in the QIDS), perhaps the more casual or familiar phrasing of the felt depressed made it more sensitive in this case. Consequently, because African Americans made up the majority of the sample, only the measure sensitive to African Americans' experience of depression would be strong enough to have an effect in the whole sample.

II. Depression-Telomere Length Association Analysis by Ethnicity/Race

QIDS score was significantly negatively associated with telomere length in both basic and fully adjusted models among Caucasians but not African Americans or Hispanics. Furthermore, felt depressed score was significantly associated with shorter telomere length in both basic and adjusted models in African Americans but not Caucasians or Hispanics. That neither QIDS score nor felt depressed score was associated with telomere length in Hispanic participants may be explained by the relatively small sample size.² However, the differential relationship between the two depression measures and telomere length between African Americans and Caucasians is puzzling. As described above, there are documented differences in the experience and reporting of depression across ethnic/racial groups. Given that the QIDS has not been validated in specifically African American populations, it is possible that there may be some form of bias in this measure of depression when used with an African American population, and that a more culturally sensitive measure may have shown an effect.

Ethnic/racial differences in telomere length may also play a role in the discrepant findings. African Americans and Caucasians did not differ significantly in telomere length, however Hispanics had significantly longer telomeres than either African Americans or Caucasians. Although it is possible that this is the result of the Hispanic participants in this sample being significantly younger than African Americans and Caucasians.

A small literature on ethnic/racial differences in telomere length suggests that Caucasians have shorter average telomere lengths than African Americans (W. Chen et al., 2009; Hunt et al., 2008). While Caucasian and African American infants have been shown to have equivalent telomere lengths (Okuda et al., 2002), by young adulthood, African Americans already display longer average telomere length than Caucasians, a finding that has been partly attributed to fewer replications of hematopoietic stem cells and progenitor cells in African Americans compared to Caucasians (Hunt et al., 2008). Interestingly, it has been suggested that this longer adult telomere length might explain the previous finding that African Americans are more likely to experience increased telomere erosion (Cherkas et al., 2006) as they present a larger target for free radical

 $^{^2}$ The number of Hispanic participants in the fully adjusted QIDS and felt depressed models were 369 and 366, respectively

accumulation (Hunt et al., 2008). In contrast to these finding, however, another study by Diez Roux et al. (2009), found that African Americans and Hispanics had shorter average telomere lengths than Caucasians, which they attributed in part to increased exposure to environmental stressors likely to result in increased inflammation and oxidative stress on a cellular level. No research to date has directly investigated telomere length among Hispanic populations. While findings in this area are mixed, it is clear that ethnic/racial differences likely play a role in the relationship between depression and telomere length.

Importantly, the results of the present study do not corroborate those from the only other study [Needham et al. (2012)] to specifically investigate ethnic/racial effects on the depression-telomere length relationship, which found no significant ethnic/racial effects. The discrepancy in results may be due to the fact that the present study had two-and-a-half times the sample size and therefore may have had the advantage of increased relative power to detect significant differences. Additionally, the specific ethnic/racial composition of the two studies was different, which may have influenced the results given the documented differences in conceptualization and reporting of depressive symptoms between ethnic/racial groups.

III. Effect of APOE Genotype Variation on Depression-Telomere Length Association Analysis

Neither the APOE(4) allele nor the APOE(2) allele variant demonstrated a significant association with telomere length in basic models of the whole sample using both QIDS score and felt depressed score as measures of depression. Similarly, in neither of these cases was the interaction between APOE allele variant and depression associated with telomere length.

As is conventional in the literature, APOE genotype data was reported as percentage of the sample who were carriers of a given allele variant. Across the sample, 15% were APOE(2) carriers, 93% were APOE(3) carriers, and 32% were APOE(4) carriers. These ratios are consistent with previous literature on the relative prevalence of the APOE allele variants across the population (Wikgren, Karlsson, et al., 2012). When stratified by race/ethnicity, African Americans had 18% APOE(2) carriers, 89% APOE(3) carriers, and 37% APOE(4) carriers. Caucasians had 15% APOE(2) carriers, 95% APOE(3) carriers, and 26% APOE(4) carriers. Hispanics had 4% APOE(2) carriers, 98% APOE(3) carriers, and 27% APOE(4) carriers. African Americans had a higher percentage of APOE(2) carriers than Hispanics, a lower percentage of APOE(3) carriers than either Caucasians or Hispanics, and a higher percentage of APOE(4) carriers than either Caucasians or Hispanics. Caucasians also had a higher percentage of APOE(2) carriers than Hispanics. These differences in relative ratios of APOE allele variations are generally consistent with previous research showing a higher ratio of the APOE(2) and APOE(4) variants in African and Oceanic populations, while higher rates of the APOE(3) variant are found in European, Indian, and Asian populations (Singh, Singh, & Mastana, 2006).

A robust literature exists demonstrating an increased risk for various cognitive difficulties such as Alzheimer's disease for carriers of the APOE(4) allele (See Bennett et al., (2015) for a review). Recent research has also suggested that the APOE(4) allele variant is a risk factor for increased telomere length erosion (Jacobs et al., 2013; Takata et al., 2012). Furthermore, some preliminary evidence exists suggesting that APOE allele variation may influence the relationship between depression and telomere length (Lung et al., 2007).

Surprisingly, both APOE(3) carrier status and the interaction between APOE(3) carrier status and felt depressed score were significantly associated with shorter telomere length,

suggesting that the association between felt depressed score and telomere length is stronger in participants who are carriers of the APOE(3) allele. These results are difficult to integrate into the small literature on APOE, depression, and telomere length, however, given that the APOE(3) allele is not thought to be a risk factor for any of the conditions mentioned above.

We had hypothesized that APOE(4) carriers might show an even larger depressiontelomere length effect than would otherwise be expected. That APOE(3) carrier status and not APOE(4) was associated in one model with decreased telomere length is difficult to interpret given a lack of any previous literature documenting APOE(3) effects in either depression or telomere length. It is important to note, however, that not all participants had APOE genotype data, and of those that did, only a small number were APOE(4) carriers (n = 550) relative to APOE(3) carriers (n = 1,602). As a result, there may not have been sufficient power to detect significant differences in the depression-telomere length relationship based on APOE(4) carrier status. Finally, it is also possible that the results are simply spurious, especially since the effect was only seen in the model using the felt depressed score and not in the model using the QIDS score.

IV. Effect of Sleep on Depression-Telomere Length Association Analysis

Although sleep quantity and quality are heavily implicated in many psychiatric disorders (Sutton, 2014), including depression (Luca, Luca, & Calandra, 2013), the impact of sleep on the depression-telomere length relationship has been relatively unexplored. In the present study, mean hours of self-reported nightly sleep was not associated with telomere length in models of the whole sample using both QIDS score and felt depressed score as measures of depression as originally hypothesized. There was also no significant interaction between either QIDS score or

felt depressed score with telomere length. Finally, the interactions between QIDS and sleep as well as felt depressed and sleep were not significantly associated with telomere length. Interestingly, in a basic model of the full sample, the felt depressed variable was associated with telomere length; however in the model in which average hours of sleep and the sleep-by-felt depressed interaction were included, this association was no longer significant. Given that neither sleep nor the sleep-by-felt depressed interaction were significant, this effect may be due to the loss of power associated with the decreased sample size of the model which resulted from adding sleep as a variable (2,020 out of the total 2,710 participants had available sleep data). In aggregate, these results suggest that self-reported hours of nightly sleep is not a significant moderating variable in the relationship between depression and telomere length.

These findings are at odds with previous literature demonstrating an association between both sleep quantity and sleep quality and telomere length (Cribbet et al., 2014; Garland et al., 2014). One reason for the discrepant results may be the specific aspects of sleep measured. Most of the positive findings in this literature have associated poor sleep quality with shortened telomere length, but the present study only measured sleep quantity. Another potential rationale for these findings comes from a recent study (Prather et al., 2014), which suggested that the type of cell from which the telomere length is measured is influential in the association with sleep. They also found that perceived stress moderated this relationship such that participants high in perceived stress showed a stronger relationship between sleep quality and shorter telomere length, but the effect did not remain when perceived stress was low. To the best of our knowledge, however, no previous literature has investigated the role of sleep specifically on the relationship between depression and telomere length.

V. Study Design Analysis

Study design is an important factor in the interpretation of the findings from the present study. There are two predominant types of study design in the depression-telomere length literature. Much of the early work employed case-control designs in which a typically small number of depressed test cases were matched with non-depressed controls and their telomere lengths were compared. While several of these studies had numbers of cases in the hundreds, many had fewer than 50. See Table 1 for a comparison of case-controlled studies of depression and telomere length.

Because many of the early findings in this area were contradictory—with some studies demonstrating a depression-telomere length association and others no association—later studies tended to employ larger cross-sectional designs. By using data from epidemiological research in which both depression and telomere length data was available, larger sample sizes afforded greater power to detect small but significant differences. The majority of these studies had sample sizes close to 1,000 participants, while several had over two thousand. See Table 2 for a comparison of cross-sectional studies of depression and telomere length.

Several of these previous studies were similar to the present study both in terms of study design (cross-sectional), aims, as well as variables controlled for. Most recently, Needham et al. (Needham et al., 2014) investigated a sample of 1,290 young adult participants in the U.S. 56% of participants were female and 5% had current antidepressant use, while the sample consisted of 50% Caucasians, 20% African Americans, and 30% Hispanics. Years of education, BMI, and Tobacco use were not reported. Aside from the present study, this was the only study in the literature to specifically investigate the relationship between depression and telomere length in the context of racial/ethic differences, which was possible because of their stratified sample

(although Caucasians were still a clear majority). Importantly, the mean age was also quite low compared to other similar studies (mean age = 29.4). Given the significant influence of age on telomere length, this makes their finding difficult to interpret relative to previous research in which the mean age is generally much closer to that of the present study. While this study did not report a significant depression-telomere length association across their whole sample, they did find that there was a negative association between depression and telomere length among participants currently taking an antidepressant. Antidepressant medication use, they argued, was indicative of more severe psychopathology, which ought to have more of a shortening effect on telomere length.

Ladwig et al. (2013) used a sample of 2,528 participants of European decent with a mean age of 54.5 years. Their sample was 58% female, had a mean BMI of 27.7, 20% were current tobacco users, and 60% were classified as having "low education" attainment. Antidepressant use was not reported. This study was very similar to the present study with the exception of their ethnically/racially homogenous sample, which was composed of entirely white Europeans. They found that PTSD but not anxiety or depression was associated with decreased telomere length. Interestingly, they suggested that these differential effects may be the result of PTSD involving a larger amount of stress specifically compared to other internalizing disorders. Given that stress is thought to mediate the pathway between psychiatric disorder and telomere erosion, this finding may explain why depression specifically has shown more inconsistent results compared to PTSD.

Three other cross-sectional investigations were similar to the present study (Phillips et al., 2013; Shaffer et al., 2012; Verhoeven et al., 2013). Their respective descriptive statistics were as follows: mean age was 55.7, 42, and 48.2 years; percent female participants was 45%, 65%, and

50%. Years of education was only reported by Verhoeven et al. (12.4); Shaffer et al. reported a mean BMI of 27, while Verhoeven et al. reported approximately 47% of participants had a BMI resulting in a designation as either overweight or obese. All three studies were comprised of participants exclusively of white European decent. Phillips et al. and Shaffer et al. reported 10% and 89% current antidepressant use, respectively, as well as 21% and 12% current tobacco use. All three studies had large sample sizes and controlled for a relatively large number of important variables. It is interesting, then, that they reported such differing results. Shaffer et al. found that it was and Phillips et al. found that it was, but only in a subset of the sample stratified by age.

In sum, while it is possible that the largely negative consensus of recent studies in the area is indicative of no association between depression and telomere length, it may be that the high level of variability across the particulars of study designs obscures the relatively modest effect of depression on telomere length. This may explain why earlier case-control studies of depression and telomere length reported a larger proportion of positive findings—the particular features of the case-controlled design resulted in more homogenous samples and they tended to use similar measures of depression and thus allowed for more confidence that they were measuring the same construct.

VI. Exome-Wide Association Study Analysis

Results from previous research attempting to better understand the genetic underpinnings of depression using candidate gene approaches and genome-wide association studies have been largely negative. While many studies of candidate genes have been undertaken, and some significant findings reported, few of these findings have been proved to be reproducible. A recent

meta-analysis of these studies found seven significant candidate genes, though the mean effect size was small (Flint & Kendler, 2014). Interestingly, all the most likely sequence variants revealed by the candidate gene studies were common, including the seven that reached significance in the meta-analysis.

Genome-wide association studies typically investigate common variants in the genome. Given that all of the most promising candidate gene results were common variants, they should be detectable by GWAS with sufficient power. However, none of these genes surfaced in any of the genome-wide association studies, suggesting either that they were false positives or that the genome-wide association studies were underpowered. The largest of these studies (Major Depressive Disorder Working Group, 2013) had 9,240 cases and 9,519 controls in the discovery phase, which resulted in approximately 90% power to detect alleles with a frequency greater than 5%, yet none were found. While one study (Kohli et al., 2011) found a variant that reached genome-wide significance, none of the other studies replicated the finding, suggesting it was likely a false positive.

One interpretation of the above findings is that there are actually no loci with large genetic effects on the expression of depression, and that instead, genetic risk for the disorder is conferred by multiple loci with smaller effects in combination. An alternative, but not incompatible, hypothesis is that no robust findings have been uncovered due to the restriction of analysis to common variants rather than rare ones. It may be that a portion of the genetic effect on depression is due to variants which, although rare, have large effects.

By scanning the exome rather than the genome, we tested the hypothesis that rare variants contribute to the expression of depression. However, in our analysis no variant reached exome-wide significance. This finding is consistent with the current consensus in the literature

that there are no common variants with significant effects on depression (Cohen-Woods et al., 2013), and suggests that there may not be any rare variants with large effects either.

Although there were no significant hits in our primary analysis, we examined the variants with the smallest p-values more closely to determine if the genes they were located in had been associated with depression previously in the literature. While several genes had been associated with psychiatric conditions such as schizophrenia (SLCO5A1, SNTG2) (Van Den Bossche et al., 2013), physical aggression (NFAT5) (Provencal et al., 2013), intellectual disability (SNTG2) (Bulayeva et al., 2015), and suicidality (KIAA1244, SNTG2) (Perlis, Ruderfer, Hamilton, & Ernst, 2012; Schosser et al., 2012), none of the top hits appear to have been previously implicated with depression. The two studies investigating suicidality were particularly interesting given the close overlap between suicidality and depression. However, in both of these studies the findings failed to replicate, suggesting they may have been false positives.

In addition to examining the top hits from this analysis, top variants from the previous literature that were available on the exome chip were also investigated. All SNPs located within 1 Mb of the top SNPs found in the literature were examined, but none reached exome-wide significance, including the three leadings variants from a recent meta-analysis of GWAS in depression (rs7296288, rs11579964, rs7647854) (Flint & Kendler, 2014). The lack of consistency across studies again suggests that there is no single strong genetic effect on depression.

One reason our study may have failed to replicate findings from previous attempts is the unique ethnic/racial composition of our sample. Most of the GWAS of depression today have included participants of primarily white European descent, while the DHS includes a far more

heterogeneous sample. Indeed, there was considerable heterogeneity among the top hits in our results when stratified by ethnicity/race.

Another possibility for the discordant results of the present findings compared to previous studies is the ill-defined nature of the depressive phenotype and the different approaches to quantifying it across studies. Many of the GWAS of depression to date have used either a clinical interview as the means determining the presence and severity of depression or a different screening tool. Given that there is significant variety in both the phenotype in question as well as the methodology used to measure it, it is perhaps not surprising that the results are discrepant. Finally, though we had access to an analysis of both rare and common variants and a large enough sample to have sufficient power to detect differences among common variants, it is possible that our power to detect uncommon variants was not sufficient.

VII. Strengths

A major strength of the present study is its large sample size and subsequently increased power to detect significant differences among important variables even after stratifying the sample. The large number of variables that were possible to control for is also a major advantage as much of the previous literature in the area has suffered from limited or inconsistent controlling variables. This is only the second study to specifically investigate ethnic/racial differences in the depression-telomere length association, and it does so with more than twice the number of participants and a non-Caucasian majority. Having two measures of depressive symptoms was advantageous in that it highlighted the importance of awareness for the multifaceted nature of the depressive phenotype. Finally, the present study was the first to employ a novel exome-wide

analysis of depressive symptoms, which allowed the important work of investigating the association between depressive symptoms and uncommon genetic variants.

VIII. Limitations and Future Directions

The design of this study was cross-sectional and as a result cannot make causal attributions about the relationship between depression and telomere length. Future studies with more prospective designs will further clarify the causality of the relationship between depression and telomere length. Furthermore, though the ethnic/racial composition of the present study was largely a strength, the proportion of Hispanics was relatively small and may have been a confounding factor in several of the analyses that were based on ethic/racial stratification.

The use of self-report measures for depression may also be considered a limitation for several reasons that could likely have been ameliorated with clinician-administered assessment. First, many participants were not able to be included in the present analyses because they were missing some or all of their data. Second, interpretation of some sections of the assessments may have been confusing for participants. However there is research demonstrating that people may be more honest and accurate in their assessment of themselves in a self-report setting rather than in the presence of a clinician (Baird, Le, & Lucas, 2006). As a result, future studies ought to include multiple measures of depression, with at least one in each category in order to control for variance in this respect.

Another limitation of the present study is the use of the QIDS as it has not previously been used in the study of telomere length and depression, and direct comparisons are, therefore, not possible. There were also relatively few participants with very high QIDS scores. Given the importance of extreme phenotypes in any genetic analysis, future research in this area ought to

attempt to find a population with a larger proportion of severely depressed participants. Finally, because the QIDS only measures the presence and severity of depressive symptoms over the past week, information on the duration of depressive symptoms was unavailable. Given that there is prior research demonstrating the impact of duration in addition to severity of depression on telomere length, future research ought to account for this important variable.

The consensus in the literature seems to be that the relationship between depression and shortened telomere lengths is mediated by stress. However, the present study was not able to account for this variable. Obtaining markers of stress—on physiological, psychological, and social levels—would help future studies to clarify the purported pathway between depression and shortened telomeres.

The measurement of telomere length in the present study was obtained from circulating leukocytes. While previous research has demonstrated correlations in telomere length across tissue types (Daniali et al., 2013; Lukens, Van Deerlin, Clark, Xie, & Johnson, 2009), it is possible that telomere length may have been more or less closely associated with depression in different tissue types. Finally, the present study did not have a measure of telomerase. Given that there is a growing understanding of the importance of the role of telomerase functioning in telomere length and erosion (Wolkowitz et al., 2012; Zalli et al., 2014), future research in this area ought to account for this important variable and perhaps better elucidate the relationship between depression, stress, and telomerase.

IX. Clinical Implications

While the present study was not clinically focused, several important implications can be drawn from the results. The present study showed that ethnic/racial differences in the association
between depression and telomere length were variable depending on the type of depression measurement used. This suggests the importance of using culturally sensitive and valid measures in the study of depression, as cultural differences in the conceptualization and reporting of depression may not be accurately captured by measures validated in a single ethnic/racial group.

The finding from the current study that depression is associated with decreased telomere length also highlights the wide-ranging effects that even sub-clinical levels of depression can have on individuals. In addition to the negative phenomenological experiences that are so often associated with depression (e.g. low mood, sadness, apathy), this study adds to a growing body of work exposing the deleterious effects of depression on all aspects of the person, including the body. Increasingly, depression is being implicated in worse health outcomes as diverse as heart disease (Khawaja, Westermeyer, Gajwani, & Feinstein, 2009), cancer (Pinquart & Duberstein, 2010), and diabetes (Egede & Dismuke, 2012). If depression also increases the rate of telomere degradation, increased aging itself may be considered one of the many harmful consequences of depression. As a result, the need for better identification and treatment of depression should likely be considered even greater than previously thought.

Finally, some early speculative work has shown that by increasing telomerase production, it may be possible to extend previously foreshortened telomeres (Effros, 2009; Giardini, Segatto, da Silva, Nunes, & Cano, 2014; Liew, Holman, & Kulkarni, 2009). If such procedures continue to develop positively, clinicians' views may need to widen considerably to account for these newer methods for the treatment of depressive symptoms.

X. Conclusion

The primary finding from this study is that depression as measured by the QIDS is not significantly associated with telomere length in a large, multi-ethnic sample after controlling for important relevant variables. However, a secondary and un-validated measure of depression was associated with shorter telomere length, even after full adjustment for potentially confounding variables. Furthermore, after analyzing the relationship between depressive symptoms and telomere length with the sample stratified by ethnicity/race, significant differential effects were found: QIDS score was associated with shorter telomere length in Caucasians but not African Americans or Hispanics, while the felt depressed variable was associated with shorter telomere length in African Americans but not in Caucasians or Hispanics. Finally, two potentially important but largely unexplored moderating variables, sleep and APOE allele variation, did not appear to have a significant effect on the relationship between depression and telomere length.

The present study is the largest to date examining the relationship between depression and telomere length. It is also one of the most comprehensive given its sample diversity and wide range of potentially confounding variables available to control for. Although the primary findings of this study are not unequivocal on the question of the relationship between depressive symptoms and telomere length, they do provide helpful clarification for future investigations, particularly regarding the importance of accounting for ethnic/racial differences in study design, measurement, and interpretation.

62

CHAPTER VI

Tables

(beginning on the following page)

))								
Author(s)	Z	Age	% female	Education, years	BMI	Ethnicity/Race	% AD	% CTU	Depression measure	Main findings	Control variables	Sig.
Simon et al, 2006	44/44	51	45	n/a	n/a	93% Caucasian	n/a	37	SCID	Mood disorders associated with shorter TL	Age, gender, tobacco use	+1
Lung et al, 2007	253/411	45/45	64/57	n/a	n/a	100% Asian	n/a	n/a	SCID	Depression associated with shorter TL	Age, gender	+
Hartmann et al, 2010	54/20	49	61	n/a	n/a	100% Caucasian	n/a	16	HAM-D	Depression associated with shorter TL	Age, gender, tobacco use, duration and severity of illness	+
Elvsashagen et al, 2011	28/28	35/35	68/68	82/93 % high school graduate	25/23	100% Caucasian	n/a	17.5	MINI, MADRS	TL associated with Bipolar-II diagnosis	Age, gender, education, BMI, tobacco use, exercise, illness duration	+I
Puterman et al, 2013	205/743	62/68	30/15	n/a	29/28	n/a	51/89	72/82	CDIS	Resiliency buffers association between Depression and TL	Age, gender, education, BMI, exercise, AD use, adverse life events	-11
Malan et al, 2011	64	22	100	92% high school graduate	n/a	20% African American, 80% "mixed"	n/a	n/a	MINI	Depression not associated with TL	Age, gender, "resilience"	,
Wolkowitz et al, 2011	18/17	37/37	67/65	15/16	26/25	72% Caucasian, 17% African American, 6% Asian, 5% Other	0	17/18	SCID	Lifetime, not current Depression associated w/ shorter TL	Age, gender, BMI	+1
Teyssier et al, 2012	17/16	40/38	100	n/a	23/24	100% Caucasian	n/a	24/0	SCID, MINI, HAM-D	Depression not associated with TL	Age, BMI, alcohol, tobacco use, physical activity, Depression duration	
Wikgren et al, 2012	91/451	60/59	60/50	n/a	27/26	100% Caucasian	89/0	15/11	BDI, CES-D	Depression associated with shorter TL	Age, gender	+
Garcia-Rizo et al, 2013	9/48	31/28	40/38	n/a	23/24	100% Caucasian	0	n/a	SCID, CIDI	Depression associated with shorter TL	Age, gender, BMI, cortisol levels	+
Schaakxs et al, 2014	355/128	71/70	66/62	10/13	n/a	100% Caucasian	0/27	n/a	SCID	Depression not associated with TL	Age, gender, education, tobacco use, alcohol, exercise, BMI, chronic disease	I
Karabatsiakis et al, 2014	44/50	53/51	100	15/14	n/a	100% Caucasian	43/0	n/a	BDI	Depression associated with shorter TL	Age, education, age at first Depression episode, # depressive episodes, AD use, hypertension	+
Abbreviations: x/ MADRS = Montg Center for Epiden ± = questionable 1	x = cases/col comery—As niological St elationship.	ntrols; % A berg Depre udies Depı	AD = percen ession Ratin ression Scal	nt antidepressant ng Scale; MINI = le; TL = telomere	use; % CTI Mini-inten : length; Siţ	U = percent current tobacco national Neuropsychiatric In g. = statistically significant	use; SCII nterview; depressior	D = Structu CDIS = C _c 1-telomere	rred Clinical Intern mputerized Diag length relationshi	/iew for DSM Disorders; HAM-D nostic Interview Schedule; BDI = 1 p: + = clear significant relationship	= Hamilton Depression Rating Scal Beck Depression Inventory, CES-D - p; - = clear non-significant relationsh	up;

Prior Depression-Telomere Length Research, Case-control Designs

Table 1

64

	Sig.	н	I	ı	+	н	I	ı	ı	ı
	Control variables	Age, gender, education, BMI, exercise, AD use, adverse life events	Age, gender, BMI, cardiovascular disease	Age, gender, education, BMI, exercise, AD use, adverse life events	Age, gender, education, BMI, tobacco use, alcohol, exercise	Age, gender, social class, tobacco use, AD use	Age, gender, BMI	Childhood maltreatment, tobacco use, substance dependence, psychiatric medication, medical illness, adult SES	Age, gender	Age, gender, race/ethnicity, AD use
	Main findings	Depression associated with shorter TL	Depression not associated with TL	Depression not associated with TL	Depression associated with shorter TL	Depression associated with shorter TL among youngest age group	Depression not associated with TL	Depression not associated with TL	Depression not associated with TL	Depression not associated with TL
	Depression measure	CDIS, PHQ	CES-D	CIDI	CIDI, IDS	HADS	дна	DISC, DIS	BDI	CIDI
	% CTU	n/a	12	n/a	n/a	21	20	n/a	n/a	n/a
	% AD	n/a	89	n/a	n/a	10	n/a	n/a	n/a	S
	Ethnicity/Race	60% Caucasian	100% Caucasian	100% Caucasian	100% Caucasian	100% Caucasian	100% Caucasian	100% Caucasian	100% Caucasian	50% Caucasian, 20% African American, 30% Hispanic
)	BMI	29	27	27	47%	n/a	28	n/a	n/a	n/a
	Education, years	88% high school graduate	n/a	n/a	12	n/a	60% "low education"	n/a	n/a	n/a
	% female	23	50	64	65	45	58	48	79	56
	Age	65	48	53	42	56	55	42	45	29
	N	952	2,225	974	2,407	1,063	2,528	827	19	1,290
•	Author(s)	Hoen et al, 2011	Shaffer et al, 2012	Hoen et al, 2013	Verhoeven et al, 2013	Phillips et al, 2013	Ladwig et al, 2013	Shalev et al, 2014	Georgin-Lavialle et al, 2014	Needham et al, 2014

Interview; IDS = Inventory of Depressive Symptomatology; HADS = Hospital Anxiety and Depression Questionnaire; CDIS = Computerized Diagnostic Interview Schedule; BDI = Beck Depression Inventory; DISC = Depression Intensity Scale Circles; DIS = Diagnostic Interview for Depression; CES-D = Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale; TL = telomere length; Sig. = statistically significant depression-telomere length relationship: + = clear significant relationship; - = clear non-significant relationship; $\pm =$ questionable relationship.

Table 2

65

Variable	Mean (SD)	% (N)	Ν
Age, years	49.72 (11.14)		2710
Gender			
Female		59 (1608)	
Male		41 (1102)	
Race/Ethnicity			
African American		51 (1387)	
Caucasian		35 (950)	
Hispanic		14 (373)	
Body mass index	31.29 (7.43)		2710
Education, years	12.7 (2.2)		2701
Tobacco use, any		45 (1199)	
Antidepressant use, current		11 (297)	
Telomere length	1.7955 (0.259)		2710
QIDS score	5.51 (3.87)		2710
Felt depressed score	0.86 (1.02)		2683
Sleep, hours per night	6.8 (1.4)		2020
APOE genotype			
e2 carrier		15 (261)	
e3 carrier		93 (1602)	
e4 carrier		32 (550)	

Descriptive Statistics of the Whole Sample

Variable	Mean (SD)	% (N)	N	<i>p</i> , vs Caucasians	<i>p</i> , vs Hispanics
Age, years	49.06 (11.32)		1387	<.001	<.001
Gender					
Female		63 (877)		<.001	.065
Male		37 (510)			
Body mass index	32.57 (8.04)		1387	<.001	.001
Education, years	12.7 (1.5)		1383	<.001	<.001
Tobacco use, any		44 (610)		.281	.128
Antidepressant use, current		8 (116)		<.001	.628
Telomere length	1.7958 (.2654)		1387	.324	.036
QIDS score	5.92 (4.10)		1387	<.001	.232
Felt depressed score	.92 (1.07)		1371	.004	.373
Sleep, hours per night	6.5 (1.5)		1086	<.001	<.001
APOE genotype					
e2 carrier		18 (155)		.175	<.001
e3 carrier		89 (762)		<.001	<.001
e4 carrier		37 (318)		<.001	.005

Descriptive Statistics: African Americans

Note: p values from χ^2 test or *F* test for association between ethnic/racial groups.

Descriptive Sta	atistics:	Caucasians

Variable	Mean (SD)	% (N)	N	<i>p</i> , vs African Americans	<i>p</i> , vs Hispanics
Age, years	52 (10.6)		950	<.001	<.001
Gender					
Female		55 (519)		<.001	.742
Male		45 (431)			
Body mass index	29.53 (6.51)		950	<.001	.004
Education, years	13.5 (1.7)		945	<.001	<.001
Tobacco use, any		48 (446)		.281	.011
Antidepressant use, current		16 (156)		<.001	<.001
Telomere length	1.7803 (.2503)		950	.324	.002
QIDS score	4.88 (3.43)		950	<.001	.011
Felt depressed score	.79 (.95)		944	.004	.641
Sleep, hours per night	7.1 (1.3)		641	<.001	.780
APOE genotype			645		
e2 carrier		15 (96)	645	.175	<.001
e3 carrier		95 (612)	645	<.001	.294
e4 carrier		26 (170)	645	<.001	.997

Note: p values from χ^2 test or *F* test for association between ethnic/racial groups.

Descriptive	Statistics:	Hispanics	
2000.10110	Statistics	110sp threes	

Variable	Mean (SD)	% (N)	Ν	<i>p</i> , vs African Americans	<i>p</i> , vs Caucasians
Age, years	46.4 (10.6)		373	<.001	<.001
Gender					
Female		57 (212)		.065	.742
Male		43 (161)			
Body mass index	30.97 (6.25)		373	.001	.004
Education, years	10.8 (3.5)		373	<.001	<.001
Tobacco use, any		39 (143)		.128	.011
Antidepressant use, current		7 (25)		.628	<.001
Telomere length	1.8332 (.2548)		373	.036	.002
QIDS adjusted total score	5.55 (3.83)		373	.232	.011
Felt depressed score	.84 (1.01)		368	.373	.641
Sleep, hours per night	7.0 (1.3)		293	<.001	.780
APOE genotype			233		
e2 carrier		4 (10)	233	<.001	<.001
e3 carrier		98 (228)	233	<.001	.294
e4 carrier		27 (62)	233	.005	.997

Note: p values from χ^2 test or *F* test for association between ethnic/racial groups.

Variable	В	t	р	N	F	df	р	Adj. <i>R</i> ²
Overall model				2710	42.789	3, 2706	<.001	.044
Age, years	-0.198	-10.518	<.001					
Gender	0.081	4.252	<.001					
QIDS	-0.025	-1.312	.190					

QIDS-Telomere Length Regression Analysis, Whole Sample, Basic Model

~	0 0				1	5		
Variable	В	t	р	Ν	F	df	р	Adj. <i>R</i> ²
Overall model				2674	17.198	9, 2664	<.001	.052
Age, years	192	-9.897	<.001					
Gender	0.07	3.584	<.001					
QIDS	015	768	.443					
African American	.011	.516	.606					
Hispanic	.066	2.876	.004					
BMI	.043	2.212	.027					
Education, years	.066	3.111	.002					
Tobacco use	028	-1.435	.151					
Antidepressant use	.014	.732	.464					

QIDS-Telomere Length Regression Analysis, Whole Sample, Fully Adjusted Model

Felt Depressed-Telomere Length Regression Analysis, Whole Sample, Basic Model

Variable	В	t	р	N	F	df	р	Adj. <i>R</i> ²
Overall model				2683	46.291	3, 2679	<.001	.048
Age, years	202	-10.713	<.001					
Gender	.084	4.404	<.001					
Felt depressed	069	-3.596	<.001					

Variable	В	t	р	N	F	df	р	Adj. <i>R</i> ²
Overall model				2655	18.081	9, 2645	<.001	.055
Age, years	197	-10.117	<.001					
Gender	.074	3.801	<.001					
Felt depressed	059	-3.018	.003					
African American	.010	.446	.655					
Hispanic	.065	2.827	.005					
BMI	.037	1.898	.058					
Education, years	.060	2.862	.004					
Tobacco use	026	-1.310	.193					
Antidepressant use	.021	1.063	.288					

Felt Depressed-Telomere Length Regression Analysis, Whole Sample, Fully Adjusted Model

Variable	В	t	р	N	F	df	р	Adj. <i>R</i> ²
Overall model				1387	21.233	3, 1383	<.001	.042
Age, years	185	-7.037	<.001					
Gender	.098	3.692	<.001					
QIDS	002	075	.942					

QIDS-Telomere Length Regression Analysis, African Americans, Basic Model

Table 12

Variable	В	t	р	N	F	df	р	Adj. <i>R</i> ²
Overall model				1372	11.942	7, 1364	<.001	.053
Age, years	179	-6.629	<.001					
Gender	.072	2.642	.008					
QIDS	.008	.305	.761					
BMI	.070	2.583	.011					
Education, years	.073	2.698	.007					
Tobacco use	042	-1.505	.133					
Antidepressant use	.013	.652	.514					

QIDS-Telomere Length Regression Analysis, African Americans, Fully Adjusted Model

Table 13

Variable	В	t	р	N	F	df	р	Adj. <i>R</i> ²
Overall model				1371	24.966	3, 1367	<.001	.050
Age, years	193	-7.296	<.001					
Gender	.102	3.872	<.001					
Felt depressed	096	-3.605	<.001					

Felt Depressed-Telomere Length Regression Analysis, African Americans, Basic Model

Variable	В	t	р	N	F	df	р	Adj. <i>R</i> ²
Overall model				1360	12.869	7, 1352	<.001	.058
Age, years	189	-6.973	<.001					
Gender	.080	2.934	.003					
Felt depressed	081	-2.976	.003					
BMI	.063	2.299	.022					
Education, years	.058	2.139	.033					
Tobacco use	035	-1.241	.215					
Antidepressant use	.028	1.044	.297					

Felt Depressed-Telomere Length Regression Analysis, African Americans, Fully Adjusted Model

Table 15

Variable	В	t	р	N	F	df	р	Adj. <i>R</i> ²
Overall model				950	20.841	3, 946	<.001	.059
Age, years	238	-7.537	<.001					
Gender	.065	2.020	.044					
QIDS	083	-2.473	.014					

QIDS-Telomere Length Regression Analysis, Caucasians, Basic Model

Variable	В	t	р	N	F	df	р	Adj. <i>R</i> ²
Overall model				933	10.788	7, 925	<.001	.068
Age, years	245	-7.693	<.001					
Gender	.060	1.830	.068					
QIDS	066	-1.967	.049					
BMI	030	938	.348					
Education, years	.091	2.721	.007					
Tobacco use	002	049	.961					
Antidepressant use	.041	1.246	.213					

QIDS-Telomere Length Regression Analysis, Caucasians, Fully Adjusted Model

Table 17

Variable	В	t	р	N	F	df	р	Adj. <i>R</i> ²
Overall model				944	18.663	3, 940	<.001	.053
Age, years	233	-7.330	<.001					
Gender	.052	1.621	.105					
Felt depressed	014	431	.666					

Felt Depressed-Telomere Length Regression Analysis, Caucasians, Basic Model

Variable	В	t	р	N	F	df	р	Adj. <i>R</i> ²
Overall model				929	10.232	7, 921	<.001	.065
Age, years	239	-7.519	<.001					
Gender	.049	1.502	.133					
Felt depressed	001	032	.974					
BMI	036	-1.137	.256					
Education, years	.099	2.961	.003					
Tobacco use	009	265	.791					
Antidepressant use	.030	.903	.367					

Felt Depressed-Telomere Length Regression Analysis, Caucasians, Fully Adjusted Model

Table 19

Variable	В	t	р	Ν	F	df	р	Adj. <i>R</i> ²
Overall model				373	1.993	3, 369	.115	.008
Age, years	103	-2.004	.046					
Gender	.075	1.411	.159					
QIDS	005	098	.922					

QIDS-Telomere Length Regression Analysis, Hispanics, Basic Model

Table 20

Variable	В	t	р	N	F	df	р	Adj. <i>R</i> ²
Overall model				369	1.278	7, 361	.260	.005
Age, years	111	-2.075	.039					
Gender	.074	1.338	.182					
QIDS	004	068	.946					
BMI	.073	1.383	.167					
Education, years	.031	.574	.566					
Tobacco use	.018	.328	.743					
Antidepressant use	053	948	.344					

QIDS-Telomere Length Regression Analysis, Hispanics, Fully Adjusted Model

Table 21

Variable	В	t	р	N	F	df	р	Adj. <i>R</i> ²
Overall model				368	2.911	3, 364	.035	.015
Age, years	112	-2.162	.031					
Gender	.093	1.740	.083					
Felt depressed	087	-1.494	.136					

Felt Depressed-Telomere Length Regression Analysis, Hispanics, Basic Model

Variable	В	t	р	N	F	df	р	Adj. <i>R</i> ²
Overall model				366	1.610	7, 358	.131	.012
Age, years	118	-2.202	.028					
Gender	.095	1.718	.087					
Felt depressed	077	-1.389	.166					
BMI	.071	1.34	.181					
Education, years	.026	.484	.629					
Tobacco use	.023	.433	.665					
Antidepressant use	035	648	.517					

Felt Depressed-Telomere Length Regression Analysis, Hispanics, Fully Adjusted Model

Variable	В	t	р	Ν	F	df	р	Adj. <i>R</i> ²
Overall model				2020	22.970	5, 2014	<.001	.052
Age, years	214	-9.854	<.001					
Gender	.086	3.902	<.001					
QIDS	100	-1.052	.293					
Sleep, hrs/night	063	-1.566	.117					
QIDS x sleep interaction	.085	.897	.370					

Table 23QIDS-Telomere Length-Sleep Regression: Whole Sample

Variable	В	t	р	N	F	df	р	Adj. <i>R</i> ²
Overall model				2005	24.632	5, 1999	<.001	.056
Age, years	217	-9.997	<.001					
Gender	.090	4.111	<.001					
Felt depressed	117	-1.236	.216					
Sleep, hrs/night	049	-1.633	.103					
Felt depressed x sleep interaction	.056	.527	.598					

Felt Depressed-Telomere Length-Sleep Regression: Whole Sample

Variable	В	t	р	N	F	df	р	Adj. <i>R</i> ²
Overall model				1730	18.448	5, 1724	<.001	.048
Age, years	203	-8.633	<.001					
Gender	.093	3.886	<.001					
QIDS	003	117	.907					
APOE(2) carrier	.038	.913	.361					
APOE(2) x QIDS interaction	057	-1.346	.179					

Table 25QIDS-Telomere Length-APOE(2) Regression: Whole Sample

Variable	В	t	р	N	F	df	р	Adj. <i>R</i> ²
Overall model				1712	.052	5, 1706	<.001	.052
Age, years	208	-8.825	<.001					
Gender	.095	4.017	<.001					
Felt depressed	055	-2.125	.034					
APOE(2) carrier	.013	.431	.666					
APOE(2) x felt depressed interaction	032	982	.326					

Felt Depressed-Telomere Length-APOE(2) Regression: Whole Sample

Table 27

Variable	В	t	р	N	F	df	р	Adj. <i>R</i> ²
Overall model				1730	18.501	5, 1724	<.001	.048
Age, years	203	-8.632	<.001					
Gender	.091	3.802	<.001					
QIDS	060	743	.457					
APOE(3) carrier	051	-1.238	.216					
APOE(3) x QIDS interaction	.048	.553	.580					

QIDS-Telomere Length-APOE(3) Regression: Whole Sample

Variable	В	t	р	N	F	df	р	Adj. <i>R</i> ²
Overall model				1712	20.779	5, 1706	<.001	.055
Age, years	208	-8.822	<.001					
Gender	.094	3.968	<.001					
Felt depressed	246	-2.763	.006					
APOE(3) carrier	080	-2.494	.013					
APOE(3) x felt depressed interaction	.192	2.106	.035					

Felt Depressed-Telomere Length-APOE(3) Regression: Whole Sample

Variable	В	t	р	N	F	df	р	Adj. <i>R</i> ²
Overall model				1730	18.317	5, 1724	<.001	.048
Age, years	202	-8.61	<.001					
Gender	.092	3.82	<.001					
QIDS	013	435	.663					
APOE(4) carrier	.034	.836	.403					
APOE(4) x QIDS interaction	014	237	.813					

QIDS-Telomere Length-APOE(4) Regression: Whole Sample

Variable	В	t	р	N	F	df	р	Adj. <i>R</i> ²
Overall model				1712	.053	5, 1706	<.001	.053
Age, years	207	-8.783	<.001					
Gender	.094	3.957	<.001					
Felt depressed	043	-1.496	.135					
APOE(4) carrier	.057	1.856	.064					
APOE(4) x felt depressed interaction	048	-1.383	.167					

Felt Depressed-Telomere Length-APOE(4) Regression: Whole Sample

CHAPTER VII

References

. (2001) Neurological, Psychiatric, and Developmental Disorders: Meeting the Challenge in the Developing World. Washington (DC).

Adams, J., Martin-Ruiz, C., Pearce, M. S., White, M., Parker, L., & von Zglinicki, T. (2007). No association between socio-economic status and white blood cell telomere length. *Aging Cell, 6*(1), 125-128. doi: 10.1111/j.1474-9726.2006.00258.x

Adler, N., Pantell, M. S., O'Donovan, A., Blackburn, E., Cawthon, R., Koster, A., . . .
Epel, E. (2013). Educational attainment and late life telomere length in the Health,
Aging and Body Composition Study. *Brain Behav Immun, 27*(1), 15-21. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2012.08.014

Alboni, P., Favaron, E., Paparella, N., Sciammarella, M., & Pedaci, M. (2008). Is there an association between depression and cardiovascular mortality or sudden death? J Cardiovasc Med (Hagerstown), 9(4), 356-362. doi: 10.2459/JCM.0b013e3282785240

Andrade, L., Caraveo-Anduaga, J. J., Berglund, P., Bijl, R. V., De Graaf, R., Vollebergh,
W., . . . Wittchen, H. U. (2003). The epidemiology of major depressive episodes:
results from the International Consortium of Psychiatric Epidemiology (ICPE)
Surveys. *Int J Methods Psychiatr Res, 12*(1), 3-21.

- Aubert, G., Hills, M., & Lansdorp, P. M. (2012). Telomere length measurement-caveats and a critical assessment of the available technologies and tools. *Mutat Res*, 730(1-2), 59-67. doi: 10.1016/j.mrfmmm.2011.04.003
- Aubert, G., & Lansdorp, P. M. (2008). Telomeres and aging. *Physiol Rev, 88*(2), 557-579. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00026.2007
- Bagayogo, I. P., Interian, A., & Escobar, J. I. (2013). Transcultural aspects of somatic symptoms in the context of depressive disorders. *Adv Psychosom Med*, *33*, 64-74. doi: 10.1159/000350057
- Bailey, S. M., & Murnane, J. P. (2006). Telomeres, chromosome instability and cancer. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 34(8), 2408-2417. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkl303
- Baird, B. M., Le, K., & Lucas, R. E. (2006). On the nature of intraindividual personality variability: reliability, validity, and associations with well-being. *J Pers Soc Psychol*, 90(3), 512-527. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.90.3.512
- Bakaysa, S. L., Mucci, L. A., Slagboom, P. E., Boomsma, D. I., McClearn, G. E.,
 Johansson, B., & Pedersen, N. L. (2007). Telomere length predicts survival
 independent of genetic influences. *Aging Cell, 6*(6), 769-774. doi: 10.1111/j.1474-9726.2007.00340.x
- Batty, G. D., Wang, Y., Brouilette, S. W., Shiels, P., Packard, C., Moore, J., . . . Ford, I. (2009). Socioeconomic status and telomere length: the West of Scotland Coronary Prevention Study. *J Epidemiol Community Health*, 63(10), 839-841. doi: 10.1136/jech.2009.088427
- Bekaert, S., De Meyer, T., Rietzschel, E. R., De Buyzere, M. L., De Bacquer, D., Langlois, M., . . . Asklepios, i. (2007). Telomere length and cardiovascular risk

factors in a middle-aged population free of overt cardiovascular disease. *Aging Cell*, *6*(5), 639-647. doi: 10.1111/j.1474-9726.2007.00321.x

- Belmaker, R. H., & Agam, G. (2008). Major depressive disorder. *N Engl J Med*, *358*(1), 55-68. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra073096
- Bennett, D. A., Yu, L., Yang, J., Srivastava, G. P., Aubin, C., & De Jager, P. L. (2015).
 Epigenomics of Alzheimer's disease. *Transl Res, 165*(1), 200-220. doi: 10.1016/j.trsl.2014.05.006
- Bentley, S. M., Pagalilauan, G. L., & Simpson, S. A. (2014). Major depression. *Med Clin North Am*, *98*(5), 981-1005. doi: 10.1016/j.mcna.2014.06.013
- Bischoff, C., Petersen, H. C., Graakjaer, J., Andersen-Ranberg, K., Vaupel, J. W., Bohr,
 V. A., . . . Christensen, K. (2006). No association between telomere length and
 survival among the elderly and oldest old. *Epidemiology*, *17*(2), 190-194. doi:
 10.1097/01.ede.0000199436.55248.10
- Blackburn, E. H. (1992). Telomerases. *Annu Rev Biochem*, *61*, 113-129. doi: 10.1146/annurev.bi.61.070192.000553
- Blackburn, E. H., & Gall, J. G. (1978). A tandemly repeated sequence at the termini of the extrachromosomal ribosomal RNA genes in Tetrahymena. *J Mol Biol*, 120(1), 33-53.
- Blasco, M. A., Rizen, M., Greider, C. W., & Hanahan, D. (1996). Differential regulation of telomerase activity and telomerase RNA during multi-stage tumorigenesis. *Nat Genet*, 12(2), 200-204. doi: 10.1038/ng0296-200
- Bojesen, S. E. (2013). Telomeres and human health. *J Intern Med*, 274(5), 399-413. doi: 10.1111/joim.12083
- Bosker, F. J., Hartman, C. A., Nolte, I. M., Prins, B. P., Terpstra, P., Posthuma, D., . . .
 Nolen, W. A. (2011). Poor replication of candidate genes for major depressive disorder using genome-wide association data. *Mol Psychiatry*, *16*(5), 516-532. doi: 10.1038/mp.2010.38
- Breslau, J., Kendler, K. S., Su, M., Gaxiola-Aguilar, S., & Kessler, R. C. (2005). Lifetime risk and persistence of psychiatric disorders across ethnic groups in the United States. *Psychol Med*, 35(3), 317-327.
- Brouilette, S. W., Moore, J. S., McMahon, A. D., Thompson, J. R., Ford, I., Shepherd, J.,
 ... West of Scotland Coronary Prevention Study, G. (2007). Telomere length,
 risk of coronary heart disease, and statin treatment in the West of Scotland
 Primary Prevention Study: a nested case-control study. *Lancet, 369*(9556), 107114. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(07)60071-3
- Brouilette, S. W., Whittaker, A., Stevens, S. E., van der Harst, P., Goodall, A. H., &
 Samani, N. J. (2008). Telomere length is shorter in healthy offspring of subjects with coronary artery disease: support for the telomere hypothesis. *Heart, 94*(4), 422-425. doi: 10.1136/hrt.2007.139675
- Bulayeva, K., Lesch, K. P., Bulayev, O., Walsh, C., Glatt, S., Gurgenova, F., . . .
 Thompson, P. M. (2015). Genomic structural variants are linked with intellectual disability. *J Neural Transm.* doi: 10.1007/s00702-015-1366-8
- Canela, A., Vera, E., Klatt, P., & Blasco, M. A. (2007). High-throughput telomere length quantification by FISH and its application to human population studies. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 104(13), 5300-5305. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0609367104

- Carrero, J. J., Stenvinkel, P., Fellstrom, B., Qureshi, A. R., Lamb, K., Heimburger, O., . .
 Shiels, P. G. (2008). Telomere attrition is associated with inflammation, low fetuin-A levels and high mortality in prevalent haemodialysis patients. *J Intern Med*, *263*(3), 302-312. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2796.2007.01890.x
- Cawthon, R. M., Smith, K. R., O'Brien, E., Sivatchenko, A., & Kerber, R. A. (2003).
 Association between telomere length in blood and mortality in people aged 60
 years or older. *Lancet*, 361(9355), 393-395. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(03)12384-7
- Chen, J. A., Wang, Q., Davis-Turak, J., Li, Y., Karydas, A. M., Hsu, S. C., . . . Coppola, G. (2015). A Multiancestral Genome-Wide Exome Array Study of Alzheimer Disease, Frontotemporal Dementia, and Progressive Supranuclear Palsy. *JAMA Neurol.* doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2014.4040
- Chen, W., Gardner, J. P., Kimura, M., Brimacombe, M., Cao, X., Srinivasan, S. R., ...
 Aviv, A. (2009). Leukocyte telomere length is associated with HDL cholesterol levels: The Bogalusa heart study. *Atherosclerosis, 205*(2), 620-625. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2009.01.021
- Cherkas, L. F., Aviv, A., Valdes, A. M., Hunkin, J. L., Gardner, J. P., Surdulescu, G. L., .
 . . Spector, T. D. (2006). The effects of social status on biological aging as measured by white-blood-cell telomere length. *Aging Cell*, 5(5), 361-365. doi: 10.1111/j.1474-9726.2006.00222.x
- Cherkas, L. F., Hunkin, J. L., Kato, B. S., Richards, J. B., Gardner, J. P., Surdulescu, G. L., . . . Aviv, A. (2008). The association between physical activity in leisure time and leukocyte telomere length. *Arch Intern Med*, *168*(2), 154-158. doi: 10.1001/archinternmed.2007.39

- Choi, J., Fauce, S. R., & Effros, R. B. (2008). Reduced telomerase activity in human T lymphocytes exposed to cortisol. *Brain Behav Immun, 22*(4), 600-605. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2007.12.004
- Choi, M., Scholl, U. I., Ji, W., Liu, T., Tikhonova, I. R., Zumbo, P., . . . Lifton, R. P. (2009). Genetic diagnosis by whole exome capture and massively parallel DNA sequencing. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *106*(45), 19096-19101. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0910672106
- Clark, R., Anderson, N. B., Clark, V. R., & Williams, D. R. (1999). Racism as a stressor for African Americans. A biopsychosocial model. *Am Psychol*, 54(10), 805-816.
- Cohen-Woods, S., Craig, I. W., & McGuffin, P. (2013). The current state of play on the molecular genetics of depression. *Psychol Med*, 43(4), 673-687. doi: 10.1017/S0033291712001286
- Cong, Y. S., Wright, W. E., & Shay, J. W. (2002). Human telomerase and its regulation. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev, 66*(3), 407-425, table of contents.
- Cribbet, M. R., Carlisle, M., Cawthon, R. M., Uchino, B. N., Williams, P. G., Smith, T. W., . . . Light, K. C. (2014). Cellular aging and restorative processes: subjective sleep quality and duration moderate the association between age and telomere length in a sample of middle-aged and older adults. *Sleep*, *37*(1), 65-70. doi: 10.5665/sleep.3308
- Cuijpers, P., Andersson, G., Donker, T., & van Straten, A. (2011). Psychological treatment of depression: results of a series of meta-analyses. *Nord J Psychiatry*, 65(6), 354-364. doi: 10.3109/08039488.2011.596570

- d'Adda di Fagagna, F., Reaper, P. M., Clay-Farrace, L., Fiegler, H., Carr, P., Von
 Zglinicki, T., . . . Jackson, S. P. (2003). A DNA damage checkpoint response in
 telomere-initiated senescence. *Nature, 426*(6963), 194-198. doi:
 10.1038/nature02118
- Damjanovic, A. K., Yang, Y., Glaser, R., Kiecolt-Glaser, J. K., Nguyen, H., Laskowski,
 B., . . . Weng, N. P. (2007). Accelerated telomere erosion is associated with a declining immune function of caregivers of Alzheimer's disease patients. *J Immunol, 179*(6), 4249-4254.
- Daniali, L., Benetos, A., Susser, E., Kark, J. D., Labat, C., Kimura, M., . . . Aviv, A.
 (2013). Telomeres shorten at equivalent rates in somatic tissues of adults. *Nat Commun, 4*, 1597. doi: 10.1038/ncomms2602
- Demissie, S., Levy, D., Benjamin, E. J., Cupples, L. A., Gardner, J. P., Herbert, A., . . .
 Aviv, A. (2006). Insulin resistance, oxidative stress, hypertension, and leukocyte telomere length in men from the Framingham Heart Study. *Aging Cell*, *5*(4), 325-330. doi: 10.1111/j.1474-9726.2006.00224.x
- Demyttenaere, K., Bruffaerts, R., Posada-Villa, J., Gasquet, I., Kovess, V., Lepine, J. P., .
 ... Consortium, W. H. O. W. M. H. S. (2004). Prevalence, severity, and unmet need for treatment of mental disorders in the World Health Organization World Mental Health Surveys. *JAMA*, 291(21), 2581-2590. doi: 10.1001/jama.291.21.2581
- Denham, J., Nelson, C. P., O'Brien, B. J., Nankervis, S. A., Denniff, M., Harvey, J. T., . . . Charchar, F. J. (2013). Longer leukocyte telomeres are associated with ultra-

endurance exercise independent of cardiovascular risk factors. *PLoS One, 8*(7), e69377. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0069377

- Devasagayam, T. P., Tilak, J. C., Boloor, K. K., Sane, K. S., Ghaskadbi, S. S., & Lele, R.
 D. (2004). Free radicals and antioxidants in human health: current status and future prospects. *J Assoc Physicians India*, *52*, 794-804.
- *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*. (2000). (4th ed., text rev. ed.). Washington D.C.: American Psychiatric Association.
- Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders. (2013). (5th ed.). Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association.
- Diaz de Leon, A., Cronkhite, J. T., Katzenstein, A. L., Godwin, J. D., Raghu, G., Glazer,
 C. S., . . . Garcia, C. K. (2010). Telomere lengths, pulmonary fibrosis and
 telomerase (TERT) mutations. *PLoS One*, *5*(5), e10680. doi:
 10.1371/journal.pone.0010680
- Diez Roux, A. V., Ranjit, N., Jenny, N. S., Shea, S., Cushman, M., Fitzpatrick, A., & Seeman, T. (2009). Race/ethnicity and telomere length in the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. *Aging Cell*, 8(3), 251-257. doi: 10.1111/j.1474-9726.2009.00470.x
- Do, R., Kathiresan, S., & Abecasis, G. R. (2012). Exome sequencing and complex disease: practical aspects of rare variant association studies. *Hum Mol Genet*, 21(R1), R1-9. doi: 10.1093/hmg/dds387
- Doherty, J. L., & Owen, M. J. (2014). Genomic insights into the overlap between psychiatric disorders: implications for research and clinical practice. *Genome Med*, 6(4), 29. doi: 10.1186/gm546

- Dohrenwend, B. P. (2000). The role of adversity and stress in psychopathology: some evidence and its implications for theory and research. *J Health Soc Behav, 41*(1), 1-19.
- Drury, S. S., Theall, K., Gleason, M. M., Smyke, A. T., De Vivo, I., Wong, J. Y., ... Nelson, C. A. (2012). Telomere length and early severe social deprivation: linking early adversity and cellular aging. *Mol Psychiatry*, 17(7), 719-727. doi: 10.1038/mp.2011.53
- Duman, R. S. (2014). Neurobiology of stress, depression, and rapid acting antidepressants: remodeling synaptic connections. *Depress Anxiety*, 31(4), 291-296. doi: 10.1002/da.22227
- Effros, R. B. (2009). Kleemeier Award Lecture 2008--the canary in the coal mine: telomeres and human healthspan. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci, 64*(5), 511-515. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glp001
- Egede, L. E., & Dismuke, C. E. (2012). Serious psychological distress and diabetes: a review of the literature. *Curr Psychiatry Rep, 14*(1), 15-22. doi: 10.1007/s11920-011-0240-0
- Ellison, C. G., Boardman, J. D., Williams, D. R., & Jackson, J. S. (2001). Religious involvement, stress, and mental health: Findings from the 1995 Detroit Area Study. *Social Forces*, 80(1), 215-249. doi: Doi 10.1353/Sof.2001.0063
- Elvsashagen, T., Vera, E., Boen, E., Bratlie, J., Andreassen, O. A., Josefsen, D., . . . Boye, B. (2011). The load of short telomeres is increased and associated with lifetime number of depressive episodes in bipolar II disorder. *J Affect Disord*, *135*(1-3), 43-50. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2011.08.006

- Epel, E. S., Blackburn, E. H., Lin, J., Dhabhar, F. S., Adler, N. E., Morrow, J. D., & Cawthon, R. M. (2004). Accelerated telomere shortening in response to life stress. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 101(49), 17312-17315. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0407162101
- Fakhoury, M. (2015). New insights into the neurobiological mechanisms of major depressive disorders. *Gen Hosp Psychiatry*, 37(2), 172-177. doi: 10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2015.01.005
- Farzaneh-Far, R., Lin, J., Epel, E. S., Harris, W. S., Blackburn, E. H., & Whooley, M. A. (2010). Association of marine omega-3 fatty acid levels with telomeric aging in patients with coronary heart disease. *JAMA*, *303*(3), 250-257. doi: 10.1001/jama.2009.2008
- Fernandez-Egea, E., Bernardo, M., Heaphy, C. M., Griffith, J. K., Parellada, E., Esmatjes,
 E., . . . Kirkpatrick, B. (2009). Telomere length and pulse pressure in newly
 diagnosed, antipsychotic-naive patients with nonaffective psychosis. *Schizophr Bull*, 35(2), 437-442. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbn169
- First, M. B. (2013). Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders, 5th edition, and clinical utility. *J Nerv Ment Dis*, 201(9), 727-729. doi: 10.1097/NMD.0b013e3182a2168a
- Flint, J., & Kendler, K. S. (2014). The genetics of major depression. *Neuron*, *81*(3), 484-503. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2014.01.027
- Fyhrquist, F., Saijonmaa, O., & Strandberg, T. (2013). The roles of senescence and telomere shortening in cardiovascular disease. *Nat Rev Cardiol, 10*(5), 274-283. doi: 10.1038/nrcardio.2013.30

- Fyhrquist, F., Tiitu, A., Saijonmaa, O., Forsblom, C., Groop, P. H., & FinnDiane Study,
 G. (2010). Telomere length and progression of diabetic nephropathy in patients
 with type 1 diabetes. *J Intern Med*, 267(3), 278-286. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2796.2009.02139.x
- Gallo, J. J., Cooper-Patrick, L., & Lesikar, S. (1998). Depressive symptoms of whites and African Americans aged 60 years and older. *J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci*, 53(5), P277-286.
- Garcia-Rizo, C., Fernandez-Egea, E., Miller, B. J., Oliveira, C., Justicia, A., Griffith, J.
 K., . . . Kirkpatrick, B. (2013). Abnormal glucose tolerance, white blood cell count, and telomere length in newly diagnosed, antidepressant-naive patients with depression. *Brain Behav Immun, 28*, 49-53. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2012.11.009
- Garland, S. N., Palmer, C., Donelson, M., Gehrman, P., Johnson, F. B., & Mao, J. J.
 (2014). A nested case-controlled comparison of telomere length and psychological functioning in breast cancer survivors with and without insomnia symptoms. *Rejuvenation Res*, 17(5), 453-457. doi: 10.1089/rej.2014.1586
- Georgin-Lavialle, S., Moura, D. S., Bruneau, J., Chauvet-Gelinier, J. C., Damaj, G.,
 Soucie, E., . . . Hermine, O. (2014). Leukocyte telomere length in mastocytosis:
 correlations with depression and perceived stress. *Brain Behav Immun, 35*, 51-57.
 doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2013.07.009
- Giardini, M. A., Segatto, M., da Silva, M. S., Nunes, V. S., & Cano, M. I. (2014).
 Telomere and telomerase biology. *Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci, 125*, 1-40. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-397898-1.00001-3

- Goldberg, D. (2011). The heterogeneity of "major depression". *World Psychiatry*, 10(3), 226-228.
- Gotlib, I. H., LeMoult, J., Colich, N. L., Foland-Ross, L. C., Hallmayer, J., Joormann, J.,
 ... Wolkowitz, O. M. (2014). Telomere length and cortisol reactivity in children of depressed mothers. *Mol Psychiatry*. doi: 10.1038/mp.2014.119
- Greider, C. W., & Blackburn, E. H. (1985). Identification of a specific telomere terminal transferase activity in Tetrahymena extracts. *Cell*, *43*(2 Pt 1), 405-413.
- Halliwell, B. (2007). Oxidative stress and cancer: have we moved forward? *Biochem J*, 401(1), 1-11. doi: 10.1042/BJ20061131
- Han, Q. Q., & Yu, J. (2014). Inflammation: a mechanism of depression? *Neurosci Bull, 30*(3), 515-523. doi: 10.1007/s12264-013-1439-3
- Harley, C. B., Futcher, A. B., & Greider, C. W. (1990). Telomeres shorten during ageing of human fibroblasts. *Nature*, *345*(6274), 458-460. doi: 10.1038/345458a0
- Harris, S. E., Deary, I. J., MacIntyre, A., Lamb, K. J., Radhakrishnan, K., Starr, J. M., . . .
 Shiels, P. G. (2006). The association between telomere length, physical health, cognitive ageing, and mortality in non-demented older people. *Neurosci Lett,* 406(3), 260-264. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2006.07.055
- Harris, S. E., Martin-Ruiz, C., von Zglinicki, T., Starr, J. M., & Deary, I. J. (2012).
 Telomere length and aging biomarkers in 70-year-olds: the Lothian Birth Cohort 1936. *Neurobiol Aging*, 33(7), 1486 e1483-1488. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2010.11.013

- Hartmann, N., Boehner, M., Groenen, F., & Kalb, R. (2010). Telomere length of patients with major depression is shortened but independent from therapy and severity of the disease. *Depress Anxiety*, 27(12), 1111-1116. doi: 10.1002/da.20749
- Hayflick, L. (1965). The Limited in Vitro Lifetime of Human Diploid Cell Strains. *Exp Cell Res, 37*, 614-636.
- Hoen, P. W., de Jonge, P., Na, B. Y., Farzaneh-Far, R., Epel, E., Lin, J., . . . Whooley, M.
 A. (2011). Depression and leukocyte telomere length in patients with coronary heart disease: data from the Heart and Soul Study. *Psychosom Med*, *73*(7), 541-547. doi: 10.1097/PSY.0b013e31821b1f6e
- Hoen, P. W., Rosmalen, J. G., Schoevers, R. A., Huzen, J., van der Harst, P., & de Jonge,
 P. (2013). Association between anxiety but not depressive disorders and leukocyte
 telomere length after 2 years of follow-up in a population-based sample. *Psychol Med*, 43(4), 689-697. doi: 10.1017/S0033291712001766
- Honig, L. S., Schupf, N., Lee, J. H., Tang, M. X., & Mayeux, R. (2006). Shorter telomeres are associated with mortality in those with APOE epsilon4 and dementia. *Ann Neurol*, 60(2), 181-187. doi: 10.1002/ana.20894
- Houben, J. M., Giltay, E. J., Rius-Ottenheim, N., Hageman, G. J., & Kromhout, D.
 (2011). Telomere length and mortality in elderly men: the Zutphen Elderly Study. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*, 66(1), 38-44. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glq164
- Humphreys, J., Epel, E. S., Cooper, B. A., Lin, J., Blackburn, E. H., & Lee, K. A. (2012).
 Telomere shortening in formerly abused and never abused women. *Biol Res Nurs*, 14(2), 115-123. doi: 10.1177/1099800411398479

- Hunt, S. C., Chen, W., Gardner, J. P., Kimura, M., Srinivasan, S. R., Eckfeldt, J. H., . . .
 Aviv, A. (2008). Leukocyte telomeres are longer in African Americans than in whites: the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Family Heart Study and the Bogalusa Heart Study. *Aging Cell, 7*(4), 451-458. doi: 10.1111/j.1474-9726.2008.00397.x
- Huyghe, J. R., Jackson, A. U., Fogarty, M. P., Buchkovich, M. L., Stancakova, A.,
 Stringham, H. M., . . . Mohlke, K. L. (2013). Exome array analysis identifies new
 loci and low-frequency variants influencing insulin processing and secretion. *Nat Genet*, 45(2), 197-201. doi: 10.1038/ng.2507
- Ioannidis, J. P., Thomas, G., & Daly, M. J. (2009). Validating, augmenting and refining genome-wide association signals. *Nat Rev Genet*, 10(5), 318-329. doi: 10.1038/nrg2544
- Jackowska, M., Hamer, M., Carvalho, L. A., Erusalimsky, J. D., Butcher, L., & Steptoe,
 A. (2012). Short sleep duration is associated with shorter telomere length in
 healthy men: findings from the Whitehall II cohort study. *PLoS One*, 7(10),
 e47292. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0047292
- Jackson, P. B., & Stewart, Q. T. (2003). A research agenda for the black middle class: work stress, survival strategies, and mental health. *J Health Soc Behav*, 44(3), 442-455.
- Jacobs, E. G., Kroenke, C., Lin, J., Epel, E. S., Kenna, H. A., Blackburn, E. H., & Rasgon, N. L. (2013). Accelerated cell aging in female APOE-epsilon4 carriers: implications for hormone therapy use. *PLoS One*, 8(2), e54713. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0054713

- Jagers, R. J., Sydnor, K., Mouttapa, M., & Flay, B. R. (2007). Protective factors associated with preadolescent violence: preliminary work on a cultural model. *Am J Community Psychol*, 40(1-2), 138-145. doi: 10.1007/s10464-007-9121-4
- James, S. J., Cutler, P., Melnyk, S., Jernigan, S., Janak, L., Gaylor, D. W., & Neubrander,
 J. A. (2004). Metabolic biomarkers of increased oxidative stress and impaired
 methylation capacity in children with autism. *Am J Clin Nutr, 80*(6), 1611-1617.
- Jani, B. D., McLean, G., Nicholl, B. I., Barry, S. J., Sattar, N., Mair, F. S., & Cavanagh, J. (2015). Risk assessment and predicting outcomes in patients with depressive symptoms: a review of potential role of peripheral blood based biomarkers. *Front Hum Neurosci, 9*, 18. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2015.00018
- Jaskelioff, M., Muller, F. L., Paik, J. H., Thomas, E., Jiang, S., Adams, A. C., . . . Depinho, R. A. (2011). Telomerase reactivation reverses tissue degeneration in aged telomerase-deficient mice. *Nature*, 469(7328), 102-106. doi: 10.1038/nature09603
- Jenkins, E. C., Velinov, M. T., Ye, L., Gu, H., Li, S., Jenkins, E. C., Jr., . . . Silverman,
 W. P. (2006). Telomere shortening in T lymphocytes of older individuals with
 Down syndrome and dementia. *Neurobiol Aging*, 27(7), 941-945. doi:
 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2005.05.021
- Jofre-Monseny, L., Minihane, A. M., & Rimbach, G. (2008). Impact of apoE genotype on oxidative stress, inflammation and disease risk. *Mol Nutr Food Res*, 52(1), 131-145. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.200700322
- Johnson, A. D., & O'Donnell, C. J. (2009). An open access database of genome-wide association results. *BMC Med Genet, 10*, 6. doi: 10.1186/1471-2350-10-6

- Kananen, L., Surakka, I., Pirkola, S., Suvisaari, J., Lonnqvist, J., Peltonen, L., . . .
 Hovatta, I. (2010). Childhood adversities are associated with shorter telomere
 length at adult age both in individuals with an anxiety disorder and controls. *PLoS One*, 5(5), e10826. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0010826
- Kao, H. T., Cawthon, R. M., Delisi, L. E., Bertisch, H. C., Ji, F., Gordon, D., . . . Porton,
 B. (2008). Rapid telomere erosion in schizophrenia. *Mol Psychiatry*, 13(2), 118-119. doi: 10.1038/sj.mp.4002105
- Karabatsiakis, A., Kolassa, I. T., Kolassa, S., Rudolph, K. L., & Dietrich, D. E. (2014).
 Telomere shortening in leukocyte subpopulations in depression. *BMC Psychiatry*, *14*, 192. doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-14-192
- Kendler, K. S., Gardner, C. O., Neale, M. C., & Prescott, C. A. (2001). Genetic risk factors for major depression in men and women: similar or different heritabilities and same or partly distinct genes? *Psychol Med*, 31(4), 605-616.
- Kendler, K. S., Gatz, M., Gardner, C. O., & Pedersen, N. L. (2006). A Swedish national twin study of lifetime major depression. *Am J Psychiatry*, 163(1), 109-114. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.163.1.109
- Kennedy, G., Spence, V. A., McLaren, M., Hill, A., Underwood, C., & Belch, J. J. (2005). Oxidative stress levels are raised in chronic fatigue syndrome and are associated with clinical symptoms. *Free Radic Biol Med*, *39*(5), 584-589. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2005.04.020
- Kessler, R. C., Berglund, P., Demler, O., Jin, R., Koretz, D., Merikangas, K. R., . . . National Comorbidity Survey, R. (2003). The epidemiology of major depressive

disorder: results from the National Comorbidity Survey Replication (NCS-R). *JAMA*, *289*(23), 3095-3105. doi: 10.1001/jama.289.23.3095

- Kessler, R. C., McGonagle, K. A., Zhao, S., Nelson, C. B., Hughes, M., Eshleman, S., . . .
 Kendler, K. S. (1994). Lifetime and 12-month prevalence of DSM-III-R
 psychiatric disorders in the United States. Results from the National Comorbidity
 Survey. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*, *51*(1), 8-19.
- Khawaja, I. S., Westermeyer, J. J., Gajwani, P., & Feinstein, R. E. (2009). Depression and coronary artery disease: the association, mechanisms, and therapeutic implications. *Psychiatry (Edgmont)*, 6(1), 38-51.
- Khin, N. A., Chen, Y. F., Yang, Y., Yang, P., & Laughren, T. P. (2011). Exploratory analyses of efficacy data from major depressive disorder trials submitted to the US Food and Drug Administration in support of new drug applications. *J Clin Psychiatry*, 72(4), 464-472. doi: 10.4088/JCP.10m06191
- Kiecolt-Glaser, J. K., Gouin, J. P., Weng, N. P., Malarkey, W. B., Beversdorf, D. Q., & Glaser, R. (2011). Childhood adversity heightens the impact of later-life caregiving stress on telomere length and inflammation. *Psychosom Med*, *73*(1), 16-22. doi: 10.1097/PSY.0b013e31820573b6
- Kiezun, A., Garimella, K., Do, R., Stitziel, N. O., Neale, B. M., McLaren, P. J., . . .
 Sunyaev, S. R. (2012). Exome sequencing and the genetic basis of complex traits. *Nat Genet*, 44(6), 623-630. doi: 10.1038/ng.2303
- Kim, J., Basak, J. M., & Holtzman, D. M. (2009). The role of apolipoprotein E inAlzheimer's disease. *Neuron*, 63(3), 287-303. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2009.06.026

- Kimura, M., Hjelmborg, J. V., Gardner, J. P., Bathum, L., Brimacombe, M., Lu, X., . . .
 Christensen, K. (2008). Telomere length and mortality: a study of leukocytes in elderly Danish twins. *Am J Epidemiol*, *167*(7), 799-806. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwm380
- Klein, D. N. (2008). Classification of depressive disorders in the DSM-V: proposal for a two-dimension system. *J Abnorm Psychol*, *117*(3), 552-560. doi: 10.1037/0021-843X.117.3.552
- Klein, R. J., Zeiss, C., Chew, E. Y., Tsai, J. Y., Sackler, R. S., Haynes, C., . . . Hoh, J. (2005). Complement factor H polymorphism in age-related macular degeneration. *Science*, *308*(5720), 385-389. doi: 10.1126/science.1109557
- Knopman, D. S., Roberts, R. O., Geda, Y. E., Boeve, B. F., Pankratz, V. S., Cha, R. H., . .
 Petersen, R. C. (2009). Association of prior stroke with cognitive function and cognitive impairment: a population-based study. *Arch Neurol, 66*(5), 614-619. doi: 10.1001/archneurol.2009.30
- Kohli, M. A., Lucae, S., Saemann, P. G., Schmidt, M. V., Demirkan, A., Hek, K., ...
 Binder, E. B. (2011). The neuronal transporter gene SLC6A15 confers risk to
 major depression. *Neuron*, 70(2), 252-265. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2011.04.005
- Kozlitina, J., & Garcia, C. K. (2012). Red blood cell size is inversely associated with leukocyte telomere length in a large multi-ethnic population. *PLoS One*, 7(12), e51046. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0051046
- Kuehner, C. (2003). Gender differences in unipolar depression: an update of epidemiological findings and possible explanations. *Acta Psychiatr Scand*, 108(3), 163-174.

- Kurz, D. J., Kloeckener-Gruissem, B., Akhmedov, A., Eberli, F. R., Buhler, I., Berger, W., . . . Luscher, T. F. (2006). Degenerative aortic valve stenosis, but not coronary disease, is associated with shorter telomere length in the elderly. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 26*(6), e114-117. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV.0000222961.24912.69
- Ladwig, K. H., Brockhaus, A. C., Baumert, J., Lukaschek, K., Emeny, R. T., Kruse, J., . .
 Peters, A. (2013). Posttraumatic stress disorder and not depression is associated with shorter leukocyte telomere length: findings from 3,000 participants in the population-based KORA F4 study. *PLoS One*, *8*(7), e64762. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0064762
- Lee, B., & Newberg, A. (2005). Neuroimaging in traumatic brain imaging. *NeuroRx,* 2(2), 372-383. doi: 10.1602/neurorx.2.2.372
- Lee, K. A., Gay, C., Humphreys, J., Portillo, C. J., Pullinger, C. R., & Aouizerat, B. E. (2014). Telomere length is associated with sleep duration but not sleep quality in adults with human immunodeficiency virus. *Sleep*, *37*(1), 157-166. doi: 10.5665/sleep.3328
- Levy, M. Z., Allsopp, R. C., Futcher, A. B., Greider, C. W., & Harley, C. B. (1992). Telomere end-replication problem and cell aging. *J Mol Biol*, *225*(4), 951-960.
- Liang, G., Schernhammer, E., Qi, L., Gao, X., De Vivo, I., & Han, J. (2011).
 Associations between rotating night shifts, sleep duration, and telomere length in women. *PLoS One*, 6(8), e23462. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0023462

- Liew, C. W., Holman, A., & Kulkarni, R. N. (2009). The roles of telomeres and telomerase in beta-cell regeneration. *Diabetes Obes Metab, 11 Suppl 4*, 21-29. doi: 10.1111/j.1463-1326.2009.01103.x
- Lingner, J., Cooper, J. P., & Cech, T. R. (1995). Telomerase and DNA end replication: no longer a lagging strand problem? *Science*, 269(5230), 1533-1534.
- Liu, Y., Snow, B. E., Hande, M. P., Yeung, D., Erdmann, N. J., Wakeham, A., ...Harrington, L. (2000). The telomerase reverse transcriptase is limiting and necessary for telomerase function in vivo. *Curr Biol, 10*(22), 1459-1462.
- Liu, Z., Zhang, J., Yan, J., Wang, Y., & Li, Y. (2014). Leucocyte telomere shortening in relation to newly diagnosed type 2 diabetic patients with depression. *Oxid Med Cell Longev, 2014*, 673959. doi: 10.1155/2014/673959
- Lof-Ohlin, Z. M., Hagnelius, N. O., & Nilsson, T. K. (2008). Relative telomere length in patients with late-onset Alzheimer's dementia or vascular dementia. *Neuroreport*, 19(12), 1199-1202. doi: 10.1097/WNR.0b013e3283089220
- Lu, W., Zhang, Y., Liu, D., Songyang, Z., & Wan, M. (2013). Telomeres-structure, function, and regulation. *Exp Cell Res*, 319(2), 133-141. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2012.09.005
- Luca, A., Luca, M., & Calandra, C. (2013). Sleep disorders and depression: brief review of the literature, case report, and nonpharmacologic interventions for depression. *Clin Interv Aging*, 8, 1033-1039. doi: 10.2147/CIA.S47230
- Ludlow, A. T., Zimmerman, J. B., Witkowski, S., Hearn, J. W., Hatfield, B. D., & Roth, S. M. (2008). Relationship between physical activity level, telomere length, and

telomerase activity. *Med Sci Sports Exerc, 40*(10), 1764-1771. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e31817c92aa

- Lukens, J. N., Van Deerlin, V., Clark, C. M., Xie, S. X., & Johnson, F. B. (2009).
 Comparisons of telomere lengths in peripheral blood and cerebellum in
 Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimers Dement*, 5(6), 463-469. doi:
 10.1016/j.jalz.2009.05.666
- Lung, F. W., Chen, N. C., & Shu, B. C. (2007). Genetic pathway of major depressive disorder in shortening telomeric length. *Psychiatr Genet*, 17(3), 195-199. doi: 10.1097/YPG.0b013e32808374f6
- Ma, D., Zhu, W., Hu, S., Yu, X., & Yang, Y. (2013). Association between oxidative stress and telomere length in Type 1 and Type 2 diabetic patients. *J Endocrinol Invest*, 36(11), 1032-1037. doi: 10.3275/9036
- Ma, H., Zhou, Z., Wei, S., Liu, Z., Pooley, K. A., Dunning, A. M., . . . Wei, Q. (2011).
 Shortened telomere length is associated with increased risk of cancer: a metaanalysis. *PLoS One*, 6(6), e20466. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0020466
- Major Depressive Disorder Working Group of the Psychiatric, G. C., Ripke, S., Wray, N.
 R., Lewis, C. M., Hamilton, S. P., Weissman, M. M., . . . Sullivan, P. F. (2013). A mega-analysis of genome-wide association studies for major depressive disorder. *Mol Psychiatry*, 18(4), 497-511. doi: 10.1038/mp.2012.21
- Malan, S., Hemmings, S., Kidd, M., Martin, L., & Seedat, S. (2011). Investigation of telomere length and psychological stress in rape victims. *Depress Anxiety*, 28(12), 1081-1085. doi: 10.1002/da.20903

- Maletic, V., & Raison, C. (2014). Integrated neurobiology of bipolar disorder. *Front Psychiatry*, *5*, 98. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2014.00098
- Mangan, D. F., & Wahl, S. M. (1991). Differential regulation of human monocyte programmed cell death (apoptosis) by chemotactic factors and pro-inflammatory cytokines. *J Immunol*, 147(10), 3408-3412.
- Manolio, T. A. (2010). Genomewide association studies and assessment of the risk of disease. *N Engl J Med*, *363*(2), 166-176. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra0905980
- Mansour, H., Chowdari, K., Fathi, W., Elassy, M., Ibrahim, I., Wood, J., . . .
 Nimgaonkar, V. L. (2011). Does telomere length mediate associations between inbreeding and increased risk for bipolar I disorder and schizophrenia? *Psychiatry Res, 188*(1), 129-132. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2011.01.010
- Martin-Ruiz, C., Dickinson, H. O., Keys, B., Rowan, E., Kenny, R. A., & Von Zglinicki,
 T. (2006). Telomere length predicts poststroke mortality, dementia, and cognitive decline. *Ann Neurol*, 60(2), 174-180. doi: 10.1002/ana.20869
- Martin-Ruiz, C. M., Gussekloo, J., van Heemst, D., von Zglinicki, T., & Westendorp, R.
 G. (2005). Telomere length in white blood cells is not associated with morbidity or mortality in the oldest old: a population-based study. *Aging Cell, 4*(6), 287-290. doi: 10.1111/j.1474-9726.2005.00171.x
- Mather, K. A., Jorm, A. F., Anstey, K. J., Milburn, P. J., Easteal, S., & Christensen, H.
 (2010). Cognitive performance and leukocyte telomere length in two narrow agerange cohorts: a population study. *BMC Geriatr, 10*, 62. doi: 10.1186/1471-2318-10-62

- Mathers, C. D., & Loncar, D. (2006). Projections of global mortality and burden of disease from 2002 to 2030. *PLoS Med*, *3*(11), e442. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.0030442
- Mathur, S., Ardestani, A., Parker, B., Cappizzi, J., Polk, D., & Thompson, P. D. (2013).
 Telomere length and cardiorespiratory fitness in marathon runners. *J Investig Med*, *61*(3), 613-615. doi: 10.231/JIM.0b013e3182814cc2
- McClintock, B. (1939). The Behavior in Successive Nuclear Divisions of a Chromosome Broken at Meiosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *25*(8), 405-416.
- Merino, A., Buendia, P., Martin-Malo, A., Aljama, P., Ramirez, R., & Carracedo, J. (2011). Senescent CD14+CD16+ monocytes exhibit proinflammatory and proatherosclerotic activity. *J Immunol, 186*(3), 1809-1815. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1001866
- Millan, M. J., Goodwin, G. M., Meyer-Lindenberg, A., & Ove Ogren, S. (2015).
 Learning from the past and looking to the future: Emerging perspectives for improving the treatment of psychiatric disorders. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol.* doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2015.01.016
- Morla, M., Busquets, X., Pons, J., Sauleda, J., MacNee, W., & Agusti, A. G. (2006).
 Telomere shortening in smokers with and without COPD. *Eur Respir J*, 27(3), 525-528. doi: 10.1183/09031936.06.00087005
- Mossakowski, K. N. (2003). Coping with perceived discrimination: does ethnic identity protect mental health? *J Health Soc Behav, 44*(3), 318-331.

Muller, H. (1938). The remaking of chromosomes. The Collecting Net, 13, 181-198.

- Nawrot, T. S., Staessen, J. A., Holvoet, P., Struijker-Boudier, H. A., Schiffers, P., Van Bortel, L. M., . . . Aviv, A. (2010). Telomere length and its associations with oxidized-LDL, carotid artery distensibility and smoking. *Front Biosci (Elite Ed)*, 2, 1164-1168.
- Needham, B. L., Fernandez, J. R., Lin, J., Epel, E. S., & Blackburn, E. H. (2012).
 Socioeconomic status and cell aging in children. *Soc Sci Med*, *74*(12), 1948-1951.
 doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2012.02.019
- Needham, B. L., Mezuk, B., Bareis, N., Lin, J., Blackburn, E. H., & Epel, E. S. (2014).
 Depression, anxiety and telomere length in young adults: evidence from the
 National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. *Mol Psychiatry*. doi:
 10.1038/mp.2014.89
- Nemeroff, C. B. (2002). Recent advances in the neurobiology of depression. *Psychopharmacol Bull, 36 Suppl 2*, 6-23.
- O'Donovan, A., Epel, E., Lin, J., Wolkowitz, O., Cohen, B., Maguen, S., . . . Neylan, T.
 C. (2011). Childhood trauma associated with short leukocyte telomere length in posttraumatic stress disorder. *Biol Psychiatry*, 70(5), 465-471. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2011.01.035
- Oh, J. J., Park, S., Lee, S. E., Hong, S. K., Lee, S., Lee, H. M., ... Byun, S. S. (2015). Genome-wide detection of allelic genetic variation to predict biochemical recurrence after radical prostatectomy among prostate cancer patients using an exome SNP chip. *J Cancer Res Clin Oncol.* doi: 10.1007/s00432-015-1947-9

- Okuda, K., Bardeguez, A., Gardner, J. P., Rodriguez, P., Ganesh, V., Kimura, M., . . . Aviv, A. (2002). Telomere length in the newborn. *Pediatr Res, 52*(3), 377-381. doi: 10.1203/00006450-200209000-00012
- Olovnikov, A. M. (1973). A theory of marginotomy. The incomplete copying of template margin in enzymic synthesis of polynucleotides and biological significance of the phenomenon. *J Theor Biol*, *41*(1), 181-190.
- Parks, C. G., Miller, D. B., McCanlies, E. C., Cawthon, R. M., Andrew, M. E., DeRoo, L. A., & Sandler, D. P. (2009). Telomere length, current perceived stress, and urinary stress hormones in women. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev, 18*(2), 551-560. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-08-0614
- Paul, L., Cattaneo, M., D'Angelo, A., Sampietro, F., Fermo, I., Razzari, C., . . . Selhub, J. (2009). Telomere length in peripheral blood mononuclear cells is associated with folate status in men. *J Nutr, 139*(7), 1273-1278. doi: 10.3945/jn.109.104984
- Perlis, R. H., Ruderfer, D., Hamilton, S. P., & Ernst, C. (2012). Copy number variation in subjects with major depressive disorder who attempted suicide. *PLoS One*, 7(9), e46315. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0046315
- Phillips, A. C., Robertson, T., Carroll, D., Der, G., Shiels, P. G., McGlynn, L., & Benzeval, M. (2013). Do symptoms of depression predict telomere length?
 Evidence from the west of Scotland twenty-07 study. *Psychosom Med*, 75(3), 288-296. doi: 10.1097/PSY.0b013e318289e6b5
- Pinquart, M., & Duberstein, P. R. (2010). Depression and cancer mortality: a metaanalysis. *Psychol Med*, 40(11), 1797-1810. doi: 10.1017/S0033291709992285

- Poch, E., Carbonell, P., Franco, S., Diez-Juan, A., Blasco, M. A., & Andres, V. (2004).
 Short telomeres protect from diet-induced atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-null mice. *FASEB J*, *18*(2), 418-420. doi: 10.1096/fj.03-0710fje
- Prather, A. A., Gurfein, B., Moran, P., Daubenmier, J., Acree, M., Bacchetti, P., . . . Epel,
 E. S. (2014). Tired telomeres: Poor global sleep quality, perceived stress, and
 telomere length in immune cell subsets in obese men and women. *Brain Behav Immun.* doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2014.12.011
- Prather, A. A., Puterman, E., Lin, J., O'Donovan, A., Krauss, J., Tomiyama, A. J., . . .
 Blackburn, E. H. (2011). Shorter leukocyte telomere length in midlife women with poor sleep quality. *J Aging Res, 2011*, 721390. doi: 10.4061/2011/721390
- Provencal, N., Suderman, M. J., Caramaschi, D., Wang, D., Hallett, M., Vitaro, F., . . . Szyf, M. (2013). Differential DNA methylation regions in cytokine and transcription factor genomic loci associate with childhood physical aggression. *PLoS One, 8*(8), e71691. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0071691
- Puterman, E., Epel, E. S., Lin, J., Blackburn, E. H., Gross, J. J., Whooley, M. A., & Cohen, B. E. (2013). Multisystem resiliency moderates the major depression-telomere length association: findings from the Heart and Soul Study. *Brain Behav Immun, 33*, 65-73. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2013.05.008
- Puterman, E., Lin, J., Blackburn, E., O'Donovan, A., Adler, N., & Epel, E. (2010). The power of exercise: buffering the effect of chronic stress on telomere length. *PLoS One, 5*(5), e10837. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0010837
- Ramond, A., Godin-Ribuot, D., Ribuot, C., Totoson, P., Koritchneva, I., Cachot, S., . . . Joyeux-Faure, M. (2013). Oxidative stress mediates cardiac infarction aggravation

induced by intermittent hypoxia. *Fundam Clin Pharmacol*, *27*(3), 252-261. doi: 10.1111/j.1472-8206.2011.01015.x

- Richards, J. B., Valdes, A. M., Gardner, J. P., Paximadas, D., Kimura, M., Nessa, A., . . .
 Aviv, A. (2007). Higher serum vitamin D concentrations are associated with
 longer leukocyte telomere length in women. *Am J Clin Nutr, 86*(5), 1420-1425.
- Rickards, H. (2005). Depression in neurological disorders: Parkinson's disease, multiple sclerosis, and stroke. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 76 Suppl 1, i48-52. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2004.060426
- Riolo, S. A., Nguyen, T. A., Greden, J. F., & King, C. A. (2005). Prevalence of depression by race/ethnicity: findings from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey III. *Am J Public Health*, *95*(6), 998-1000. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2004.047225
- Rush, A. J., Gullion, C. M., Basco, M. R., Jarrett, R. B., & Trivedi, M. H. (1996). The Inventory of Depressive Symptomatology (IDS): psychometric properties. *Psychol Med*, 26(3), 477-486.
- Rush, A. J., Trivedi, M. H., Ibrahim, H. M., Carmody, T. J., Arnow, B., Klein, D. N., . . .
 Keller, M. B. (2003). The 16-Item Quick Inventory of Depressive
 Symptomatology (QIDS), clinician rating (QIDS-C), and self-report (QIDS-SR):
 a psychometric evaluation in patients with chronic major depression. *Biol Psychiatry*, *54*(5), 573-583.
- Sahin, E., Colla, S., Liesa, M., Moslehi, J., Muller, F. L., Guo, M., . . . DePinho, R. A.
 (2011). Telomere dysfunction induces metabolic and mitochondrial compromise. *Nature*, 470(7334), 359-365. doi: 10.1038/nature09787

- Salpea, K. D., Talmud, P. J., Cooper, J. A., Maubaret, C. G., Stephens, J. W., Abelak, K., & Humphries, S. E. (2010). Association of telomere length with type 2 diabetes, oxidative stress and UCP2 gene variation. *Atherosclerosis, 209*(1), 42-50. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2009.09.070
- Satoh, M., Ishikawa, Y., Takahashi, Y., Itoh, T., Minami, Y., & Nakamura, M. (2008).
 Association between oxidative DNA damage and telomere shortening in circulating endothelial progenitor cells obtained from metabolic syndrome patients with coronary artery disease. *Atherosclerosis, 198*(2), 347-353. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2007.09.040
- Savela, S., Saijonmaa, O., Strandberg, T. E., Koistinen, P., Strandberg, A. Y., Tilvis, R.
 S., . . . Fyhrquist, F. (2013). Physical activity in midlife and telomere length measured in old age. *Exp Gerontol, 48*(1), 81-84. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2012.02.003
- Schaakxs, R., Verhoeven, J. E., Oude Voshaar, R. C., Comijs, H. C., & Penninx, B. W. (2014). Leukocyte Telomere Length and Late-Life Depression. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry*. doi: 10.1016/j.jagp.2014.06.003
- Schosser, A., Calati, R., Serretti, A., Massat, I., Kocabas, N. A., Papageorgiou, K., . . .
 Kasper, S. (2012). The impact of COMT gene polymorphisms on suicidality in treatment resistant major depressive disorder--a European multicenter study. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol*, 22(4), 259-266. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2011.08.007
- Seedat, S., Scott, K. M., Angermeyer, M. C., Berglund, P., Bromet, E. J., Brugha, T. S., . . . Kessler, R. C. (2009). Cross-national associations between gender and mental

disorders in the World Health Organization World Mental Health Surveys. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*, *66*(7), 785-795. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2009.36

- Shaffer, J. A., Epel, E., Kang, M. S., Ye, S., Schwartz, J. E., Davidson, K. W., ...
 Shimbo, D. (2012). Depressive symptoms are not associated with leukocyte telomere length: findings from the Nova Scotia Health Survey (NSHS95), a population-based study. *PLoS One, 7*(10), e48318. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0048318
- Shalev, I., Moffitt, T. E., Braithwaite, A. W., Danese, A., Fleming, N. I., Goldman-Mellor, S., . . . Caspi, A. (2014). Internalizing disorders and leukocyte telomere erosion: a prospective study of depression, generalized anxiety disorder and posttraumatic stress disorder. *Mol Psychiatry*, 19(11), 1163-1170. doi: 10.1038/mp.2013.183
- Shalev, I., Moffitt, T. E., Sugden, K., Williams, B., Houts, R. M., Danese, A., ... Caspi,
 A. (2013). Exposure to violence during childhood is associated with telomere
 erosion from 5 to 10 years of age: a longitudinal study. *Mol Psychiatry*, 18(5),
 576-581. doi: 10.1038/mp.2012.32
- Shay, J. W., & Wright, W. E. (2005). Senescence and immortalization: role of telomeres and telomerase. *Carcinogenesis*, *26*(5), 867-874. doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgh296
- Shen, J., Terry, M. B., Gurvich, I., Liao, Y., Senie, R. T., & Santella, R. M. (2007). Short telomere length and breast cancer risk: a study in sister sets. *Cancer Res*, 67(11), 5538-5544. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-3490

- Shi, J., Zhao, C. B., Vollmer, T. L., Tyry, T. M., & Kuniyoshi, S. M. (2008). APOE epsilon 4 allele is associated with cognitive impairment in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Neurology*, 70(3), 185-190. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000264004.62612.44
- Silverman, M. N., & Sternberg, E. M. (2012). Glucocorticoid regulation of inflammation and its functional correlates: from HPA axis to glucocorticoid receptor dysfunction. *Ann N Y Acad Sci, 1261*, 55-63. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2012.06633.x
- Simon, N. M., Smoller, J. W., McNamara, K. L., Maser, R. S., Zalta, A. K., Pollack, M. H., . . . Wong, K. K. (2006). Telomere shortening and mood disorders:
 preliminary support for a chronic stress model of accelerated aging. *Biol Psychiatry*, 60(5), 432-435. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2006.02.004
- Singh, P. P., Singh, M., & Mastana, S. S. (2006). APOE distribution in world populations with new data from India and the UK. *Ann Hum Biol*, 33(3), 279-308. doi: 10.1080/03014460600594513
- Sohail, Z., Bailey, R. K., & Richie, W. D. (2014). Misconceptions of depression in african americans. *Front Psychiatry*, *5*, 65. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2014.00065
- Steptoe, A., Hamer, M., Butcher, L., Lin, J., Brydon, L., Kivimaki, M., . . . Erusalimsky,
 J. D. (2011). Educational attainment but not measures of current socioeconomic circumstances are associated with leukocyte telomere length in healthy older men and women. *Brain Behav Immun, 25*(7), 1292-1298. doi:

10.1016/j.bbi.2011.04.010

Sullivan, P. F., de Geus, E. J., Willemsen, G., James, M. R., Smit, J. H., Zandbelt, T., . . . Penninx, B. W. (2009). Genome-wide association for major depressive disorder: a possible role for the presynaptic protein piccolo. *Mol Psychiatry*, *14*(4), 359-375. doi: 10.1038/mp.2008.125

Sullivan, P. F., Neale, M. C., & Kendler, K. S. (2000). Genetic epidemiology of major depression: review and meta-analysis. *Am J Psychiatry*, 157(10), 1552-1562.

Surtees, P. G., Wainwright, N. W., Pooley, K. A., Luben, R. N., Khaw, K. T., Easton, D. F., & Dunning, A. M. (2011). Life stress, emotional health, and mean telomere length in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer (EPIC)-Norfolk population study. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci, 66*(11), 1152-1162. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glr112

- Surtees, P. G., Wainwright, N. W., Pooley, K. A., Luben, R. N., Khaw, K. T., Easton, D. F., & Dunning, A. M. (2012). Educational attainment and mean leukocyte telomere length in women in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer (EPIC)-Norfolk population study. *Brain Behav Immun, 26*(3), 414-418. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2011.11.009
- Sutton, E. L. (2014). Psychiatric disorders and sleep issues. *Med Clin North Am*, 98(5), 1123-1143. doi: 10.1016/j.mcna.2014.06.009
- Szebeni, A., Szebeni, K., DiPeri, T., Chandley, M. J., Crawford, J. D., Stockmeier, C. A.,
 & Ordway, G. A. (2014). Shortened telomere length in white matter oligodendrocytes in major depression: potential role of oxidative stress. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol*, 1-11. doi: 10.1017/S1461145714000698
- Szostak, J. W., & Blackburn, E. H. (1982). Cloning yeast telomeres on linear plasmid vectors. *Cell*, 29(1), 245-255.

- Takata, Y., Kikukawa, M., Hanyu, H., Koyama, S., Shimizu, S., Umahara, T., . . .
 Ohyashiki, J. H. (2012). Association between ApoE phenotypes and telomere erosion in Alzheimer's disease. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*, 67(4), 330-335. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glr185
- Theall, K. P., McKasson, S., Mabile, E., Dunaway, L. F., & Drury, S. S. (2013). Early hits and long-term consequences: tracking the lasting impact of prenatal smoke exposure on telomere length in children. *Am J Public Health, 103 Suppl 1*, S133-135. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2012.301208
- Thomas, P., NJ, O. C., & Fenech, M. (2008). Telomere length in white blood cells,
 buccal cells and brain tissue and its variation with ageing and Alzheimer's disease.
 Mech Ageing Dev, 129(4), 183-190. doi: 10.1016/j.mad.2007.12.004
- Trivedi, M. H., Rush, A. J., Ibrahim, H. M., Carmody, T. J., Biggs, M. M., Suppes, T., . .
 . Kashner, T. M. (2004). The Inventory of Depressive Symptomatology, Clinician Rating (IDS-C) and Self-Report (IDS-SR), and the Quick Inventory of Depressive Symptomatology, Clinician Rating (QIDS-C) and Self-Report (QIDS-SR) in public sector patients with mood disorders: a psychometric evaluation. *Psychol Med*, *34*(1), 73-82.
- Turner, R. J., & Lloyd, D. A. (2004). Stress burden and the lifetime incidence of psychiatric disorder in young adults: racial and ethnic contrasts. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*, 61(5), 481-488. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.61.5.481
- Tyrka, A. R., Price, L. H., Kao, H. T., Porton, B., Marsella, S. A., & Carpenter, L. L.(2010). Childhood maltreatment and telomere shortening: preliminary support for

an effect of early stress on cellular aging. *Biol Psychiatry*, *67*(6), 531-534. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2009.08.014

- Uziel, O., Singer, J. A., Danicek, V., Sahar, G., Berkov, E., Luchansky, M., . . . Lahav, M. (2007). Telomere dynamics in arteries and mononuclear cells of diabetic patients: effect of diabetes and of glycemic control. *Exp Gerontol*, 42(10), 971-978. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2007.07.005
- Valdes, A. M., Andrew, T., Gardner, J. P., Kimura, M., Oelsner, E., Cherkas, L. F., . . . Spector, T. D. (2005). Obesity, cigarette smoking, and telomere length in women. *Lancet*, 366(9486), 662-664. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(05)66630-5
- Valdes, A. M., Deary, I. J., Gardner, J., Kimura, M., Lu, X., Spector, T. D., . . . Cherkas,
 L. F. (2010). Leukocyte telomere length is associated with cognitive performance in healthy women. *Neurobiol Aging*, *31*(6), 986-992. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2008.07.012
- Valko, M., Leibfritz, D., Moncol, J., Cronin, M. T., Mazur, M., & Telser, J. (2007). Free radicals and antioxidants in normal physiological functions and human disease. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol*, 39(1), 44-84. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2006.07.001
- Van Den Bossche, M. J., Strazisar, M., Cammaerts, S., Liekens, A. M., Vandeweyer, G.,
 Depreeuw, V., . . . Del-Favero, J. (2013). Identification of rare copy number
 variants in high burden schizophrenia families. *Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet, 162B*(3), 273-282. doi: 10.1002/ajmg.b.32146
- van der Harst, P., van der Steege, G., de Boer, R. A., Voors, A. A., Hall, A. S., Mulder, M. J., . . . Group, M.-H. S. (2007). Telomere length of circulating leukocytes is

decreased in patients with chronic heart failure. *J Am Coll Cardiol, 49*(13), 1459-1464. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2007.01.027

- Vasan, R. S., Demissie, S., Kimura, M., Cupples, L. A., White, C., Gardner, J. P., ... Aviv, A. (2009). Association of leukocyte telomere length with echocardiographic left ventricular mass: the Framingham heart study. *Circulation, 120*(13), 1195-1202. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.853895
- Verhoeven, J. E., Revesz, D., Epel, E. S., Lin, J., Wolkowitz, O. M., & Penninx, B. W. (2013). Major depressive disorder and accelerated cellular aging: results from a large psychiatric cohort study. *Mol Psychiatry*. doi: 10.1038/mp.2013.151
- Verhoeven, J. E., Revesz, D., Wolkowitz, O. M., & Penninx, B. W. (2014). Cellular aging in depression: Permanent imprint or reversible process?: An overview of the current evidence, mechanistic pathways, and targets for interventions. *Bioessays*. doi: 10.1002/bies.201400068
- Victor, R. G., Haley, R. W., Willett, D. L., Peshock, R. M., Vaeth, P. C., Leonard, D., . . . Dallas Heart Study, I. (2004). The Dallas Heart Study: a population-based probability sample for the multidisciplinary study of ethnic differences in cardiovascular health. *Am J Cardiol, 93*(12), 1473-1480. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2004.02.058
- von Zglinicki, T. (2000). Role of oxidative stress in telomere length regulation and replicative senescence. *Ann N Y Acad Sci, 908*, 99-110.
- von Zglinicki, T. (2002). Oxidative stress shortens telomeres. *Trends Biochem Sci, 27*, 339-344.

- Weissman, M. M., Bland, R. C., Canino, G. J., Faravelli, C., Greenwald, S., Hwu, H. G., .
 . Yeh, E. K. (1996). Cross-national epidemiology of major depression and bipolar disorder. *JAMA*, *276*(4), 293-299.
- Widiger, T. A., & Samuel, D. B. (2005). Diagnostic categories or dimensions? A question for the Diagnostic And Statistical Manual Of Mental Disorders--fifth edition. *J Abnorm Psychol*, 114(4), 494-504. doi: 10.1037/0021-843X.114.4.494
- Wikgren, M., Karlsson, T., Nilbrink, T., Nordfjall, K., Hultdin, J., Sleegers, K., . . .
 Norrback, K. F. (2012). APOE epsilon4 is associated with longer telomeres, and longer telomeres among epsilon4 carriers predicts worse episodic memory. *Neurobiol Aging*, 33(2), 335-344. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2010.03.004
- Wikgren, M., Maripuu, M., Karlsson, T., Nordfjall, K., Bergdahl, J., Hultdin, J., . . .
 Norrback, K. F. (2012). Short telomeres in depression and the general population are associated with a hypocortisolemic state. *Biol Psychiatry*, *71*(4), 294-300. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2011.09.015
- Willeit, P., Willeit, J., Brandstatter, A., Ehrlenbach, S., Mayr, A., Gasperi, A., . . . Kiechl,
 S. (2010). Cellular aging reflected by leukocyte telomere length predicts advanced atherosclerosis and cardiovascular disease risk. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol,* 30(8), 1649-1656. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.110.205492

Wolkowitz, O. M., Mellon, S. H., Epel, E. S., Lin, J., Dhabhar, F. S., Su, Y., . . .
Blackburn, E. H. (2011). Leukocyte telomere length in major depression: correlations with chronicity, inflammation and oxidative stress--preliminary findings. *PLoS One*, *6*(3), e17837. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0017837

Wolkowitz, O. M., Mellon, S. H., Epel, E. S., Lin, J., Reus, V. I., Rosser, R., . . .
Blackburn, E. H. (2012). Resting leukocyte telomerase activity is elevated in major depression and predicts treatment response. *Mol Psychiatry*, *17*(2), 164-172. doi: 10.1038/mp.2010.133

- Woo, J., Tang, N., Suen, E., Leung, J., & Wong, M. (2009). Green space, psychological restoration, and telomere length. *Lancet*, 373(9660), 299-300. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60094-5
- Woods, A. G., Iosifescu, D. V., & Darie, C. C. (2014). Biomarkers in major depressive disorder: the role of mass spectrometry. *Adv Exp Med Biol*, 806, 545-560. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-06068-2_27
- Wray, N. R., Pergadia, M. L., Blackwood, D. H., Penninx, B. W., Gordon, S. D., Nyholt,
 D. R., . . . Sullivan, P. F. (2012). Genome-wide association study of major
 depressive disorder: new results, meta-analysis, and lessons learned. *Mol Psychiatry*, *17*(1), 36-48. doi: 10.1038/mp.2010.109
- Wright, W. E., Piatyszek, M. A., Rainey, W. E., Byrd, W., & Shay, J. W. (1996).
 Telomerase activity in human germline and embryonic tissues and cells. *Dev Genet, 18*(2), 173-179. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1520-6408(1996)18:2<173::AID-DVG10>3.0.CO;2-3
- Xu, Q., Parks, C. G., DeRoo, L. A., Cawthon, R. M., Sandler, D. P., & Chen, H. (2009).
 Multivitamin use and telomere length in women. *Am J Clin Nutr, 89*(6), 1857-1863. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.2008.26986
- Yaffe, K., Lindquist, K., Kluse, M., Cawthon, R., Harris, T., Hsueh, W. C., . . . Health, A.B. C. S. (2011). Telomere length and cognitive function in community-dwelling

elders: findings from the Health ABC Study. *Neurobiol Aging*, *32*(11), 2055-2060. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2009.12.006

- Zakian, V. A. (2012). Telomeres: the beginnings and ends of eukaryotic chromosomes. *Exp Cell Res, 318*(12), 1456-1460. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2012.02.015
- Zalli, A., Carvalho, L. A., Lin, J., Hamer, M., Erusalimsky, J. D., Blackburn, E. H., & Steptoe, A. (2014). Shorter telomeres with high telomerase activity are associated with raised allostatic load and impoverished psychosocial resources. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *111*(12), 4519-4524. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1322145111
- Zekry, D., Herrmann, F. R., Irminger-Finger, I., Graf, C., Genet, C., Vitale, A. M., . . . Krause, K. H. (2010). Telomere length and ApoE polymorphism in mild cognitive impairment, degenerative and vascular dementia. *J Neurol Sci*, 299(1-2), 108-111. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2010.07.019
- Zekry, D., Herrmann, F. R., Irminger-Finger, I., Ortolan, L., Genet, C., Vitale, A. M., . . . Krause, K. H. (2010). Telomere length is not predictive of dementia or MCI conversion in the oldest old. *Neurobiol Aging*, *31*(4), 719-720. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2008.05.016
- Zhang, H., Wu, L. M., & Wu, J. (2011). Cross-talk between apolipoprotein E and cytokines. *Mediators Inflamm, 2011*, 949072. doi: 10.1155/2011/949072